
Unrestricted 

EMERGENCY EVACUATION INSTRUCTIONS 

1 If you hear the alarm, leave the building immediately. 
2 Follow the green signs. 
3 Use the stairs not the lifts. 
4 Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 
 

 
If you require further information, please contact: Katharine Simpson 
Telephone: 01344 352308 
Email: katharine.simpson@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
Published: 10 February 2016 

  

 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING 

The Executive 
Tuesday 9 February 2016, 5.00 pm 
Council Chamber, Fourth Floor, Easthampstead House, Bracknell 

To: The Executive 

Councillor Bettison (Chairman), Councillor Dr Barnard (Vice-Chairman), Councillors D Birch, 
Brunel-Walker, Mrs Hayes MBE, Heydon, McCracken and Turrell 

ALISON SANDERS 
Director of Corporate Services 
 



 

 

The Executive 
Tuesday 9 February 2016, 5.00 pm 
Council Chamber, Fourth Floor, Easthampstead House, 
Bracknell 

Sound recording, photographing, filming and use of social media at meetings which are 
held in public are permitted.  Those wishing to record proceedings at a meeting are 
however advised to contact the Democratic Services Officer named as the contact for 
further information on the front of this agenda as early as possible before the start of 
the meeting so that any special arrangements can be made. 

AGENDA 
 
 Page No 

1. Apologies   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 Any Member with a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or an Affected 
Interest in a matter should withdraw from the meeting when the matter 
is under consideration and should notify the Democratic Services 
Officer in attendance that they are withdrawing as they have such an 
interest. If the Interest is not entered on the register of Members 
interests the Monitoring Officer must be notified of the interest within 28 
days. 
 

 

3. Minutes   

 To consider and approve the minutes of the meeting of the Executive 
held on 26 January 2016.. 
 

5 - 12 

4. Urgent Items of Business   

 Any other items which, pursuant to Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the Chairman decides are urgent. 
 

 

5. School Admission Arrangements and Designated Areas for 
2017/18  

 

 To determine admission arrangements for community and, where 
applicable, voluntary controlled schools for 2017/18 entry to schools. 
 

13 - 90 

6. Outcome of the Consultation on the Future Provision of Services 
at Heathlands Residential Care Home and Day Centre  

 

 To consider the outcome of the consultation on the future of 
Heathlands Residential Care Home and Day Centre for People with 
Dementia.   
 

91 - 104 

7. Agency Workers Framework 2016-2020 - Tender Outcome   

 To award a contract for the provision of agency workers. 
 

105 - 114 



 

 

8. Exclusion of Public and Press   

 To consider the following motion: 
 
That pursuant to Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Access to Information) Regulations 2012 and having 
regard to the public interest, members of the public and press be 
excluded from the meeting for the consideration of items 9 and 10 
which involve the likely disclosure of exempt information under the 
following category of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972: 
 
(3) Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 

particular person. 
 

 

9. Commercial Investment Property Acquisition in Bracknell   

 To consider the acquisition of a commercial property in Bracknell. 
 

115 - 132 

10. Potential Acquisition of former Magistrates Court   

 To seek approval for the acquisition of the former Bracknell 
magistrates’ court.  
 

133 - 136 

 





Unrestricted 

EXECUTIVE 
26 JANUARY 2016 
5.00  - 5.25 PM 

  

 
Present: 
Councillors Bettison (Chairman), Dr Barnard (Vice-Chairman), D Birch, Brunel-Walker, 
Mrs Hayes MBE, Heydon, McCracken and Turrell 
 

23. Declarations of Interest  

There were no declarations of interest. 

24. Minutes  

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Executive on 15 December 2015 
together with the accompanying decision records be confirmed as a correct record 
and signed by the Leader. 

25. Executive Decisions  

The Executive considered the reports submitted on the items listed below and the 
decisions taken are recorded in the decision sheets attached to these minutes and 
summarised below: 
 
Item 5.  School Places Plan 2015-2020  
 
RESOLVED that the School Places Plan 2015 – 2020 which forecasts a further 3,479 
pupils will be seeking a school place by 2020, a 21% increase be noted. 
 
Item 6.  Bracknell Forest Sensory Needs Strategy  
 
RESOLVED that: 
 

i. the 2015-2020 Sensory Needs Strategy be approved subject to suggested 
amendments 
 

ii. the development of an Action Plan by the Sensory Needs Partnership Board 
driven by the Sensory Needs Strategy be agreed 

 
Item 7.  Community Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment  

RESOLVED that the Executive endorses the priorities identified within the Strategic 
Assessment. 

 
Item 8.  Education Capital Programme - Great Hollands Primary School 
Expansion  
 
RESOLVED that the award of contract for the construction works for the expansion of 
Great Hollands Primary School be awarded to Tenderer F, as detailed in the 



restricted appendix to the Director of Children, Young People and Learning’s report, 
subject to the final lump sum not exceeding the amount set out in paragraph 19 of the 
Restricted Appendix.  

Decision Sheets 

 
 
 
 
LEADER 



 

Bracknell Forest Council 
Record of Decision 

 

Work Programme Reference 
 

I051899 

 
1. TITLE: School Places Plan 2015-2020 

 
2. SERVICE AREA: Children, Young People and Learning 

 
3. PURPOSE OF DECISION 

 
To approve the annual update of the School Places Plan that describes latest pupil data, 
forecasts of pupil numbers for the next five years and a commentary on the need to add 
school capacity.  
 
4 IS KEY DECISION Yes 

 
5. DECISION MADE BY: Executive 

 
6. DECISION: 

 
That the School Places Plan 2015 – 2020 which forecasts a further 3,479 pupils will be 
seeking a school place by 2020, a 21% increase be noted. 
 
7. REASON FOR DECISION 

 

The provision of school places remains an essential part of the Council’s organisation and 
planning process and enables the Council to meet its statutory duties in relation to school 
places.  A school place continues to be available for every child in the Borough who wants 
one. 

On the last occasion that Department for Education grants for targeted basic needs were 
allocated, the Council’s 2012-based forecasts were successful in securing £7.8M of grant 
through the bidding process to build additional places in the future. 

The Council forecasts on a ‘worst case’ basis, bringing schemes forward for implementation 
when short term forecasts demonstrate the need. 
 
8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 
It is business critical to undertake pupil forecasting to ensure the Council meets its statutory 
obligation of sufficiency of school places.  The plan provides a mechanism to communicate 
these forecasts. 
 
9. PRINCIPAL GROUPS CONSULTED: Professional partners  

 
10. DOCUMENT CONSIDERED: Report of the Director of Children, Young People & 

Learning. 
 

11. DECLARED CONFLICTS OF INTEREST: None 
 

 



 

Date Decision Made Final Day of Call-in Period 

26 January 2016 2 February 2016 

 
SIGNED: ..................................................  DATE: ....................................................  



 

Bracknell Forest Council 
Record of Decision 

 

Work Programme Reference 
 

I054237 

 
1. TITLE: Bracknell Forest Sensory Needs Strategy 

 
2. SERVICE AREA: Adult Social Care, Health & Housing 

 
3. PURPOSE OF DECISION 

 
The Bracknell Forest Sensory Needs Strategy sets out the needs of people with sensory 
needs living in Bracknell Forest and identifies priorities for support. This Strategy covers 
2015 – 2020.  
 
4 IS KEY DECISION Yes 

 
5. DECISION MADE BY: Executive 

 
6. DECISION: 

 
That: 
 

i. the 2015-2020 Sensory Needs Strategy be approved subject to suggested 
amendments 
 

ii. the development of an Action Plan by the Sensory Needs Partnership Board driven 
by the Sensory Needs Strategy be agreed 

 
7. REASON FOR DECISION 

 
The current Sensory Needs Strategy for Bracknell Forest runs until the end of 2014.There is 
currently no local document providing strategic direction for the development of sensory 
needs support in Bracknell Forest. From the end of 2014 to date, the Sensory Needs 
Partnership Board has been responsible updating and implementing the Sensory Needs 
Action Plan. 
 
8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 
Not changing the existing strategy. 
 
9. PRINCIPAL GROUPS CONSULTED: People who have sensory needs (including 

people who are Blind, have Low Vision, are 
Deaf, Hard of Hearing, Deafblind or have 
Dual Sensory Needs).  
People who care for people with Sensory 
Needs.  
Voluntary organisations supporting people 
with Sensory Needs.  
Practitioners supporting people with Sensory 
Needs.  
 

10. DOCUMENT CONSIDERED: Report of the Director of Adult Social Care, Health & 



 

Housing 
 

11. DECLARED CONFLICTS OF INTEREST: None 
 

 

Date Decision Made Final Day of Call-in Period 

26 January 2016 2 February 2016 

 
SIGNED: ..................................................  DATE: ....................................................  



 

Bracknell Forest Council 
Record of Decision 

 

Work Programme Reference 
 

I057609 

 
1. TITLE: Community Safety Partnership Strategic Assessment 

 
2. SERVICE AREA: Chief Executive's Office 

 
3. PURPOSE OF DECISION 

 
Executive are asked to endorse the proposed Strategy for next year.  
 
4 IS KEY DECISION Yes 

 
5. DECISION MADE BY: Executive 

 
6. DECISION: 

 
That the Executive endorses the priorities identified within the Strategic Assessment. 
 
7. REASON FOR DECISION 

 
To allow the Executive to provide representations regarding the identified priorities prior to 
the drafting of the 2016 Refresh of the Community Safety Partnership Plan. 
 
8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 
There are no alternative options as the Strategic Assessment is a statutory requirement. 
 
9. PRINCIPAL GROUPS CONSULTED: Public  

Elected Members  
Partnerships  
Stakeholders  
Business community  
 

10. DOCUMENT CONSIDERED: Report of the Assistant Chief Executive 
 

11. DECLARED CONFLICTS OF INTEREST: None 
 

 

Date Decision Made Final Day of Call-in Period 

26 January 2016 2 February 2016 

 
SIGNED: ..................................................  DATE: ....................................................  



 
Bracknell Forest Council 

Record of Decision 
 

Work Programme Reference 
 

I057471 

 
1. TITLE: Education Capital Programme - Great Hollands Primary School Expansion 

 
2. SERVICE AREA: Children, Young People and Learning 

 
3. PURPOSE OF DECISION 

 
Approval of the award of contract for the construction works for the expansion of Great 
Hollands Primary School  
 
4 IS KEY DECISION Yes 

 
5. DECISION MADE BY: Executive 

 
6. DECISION: 

 
That the award of contract for the construction works for the expansion of Great Hollands 
Primary School be awarded to Tenderer F, as detailed in the restricted appendix to the 
Director of Children, Young People and Learning’s report, subject to the final lump sum not 
exceeding the amount set out in paragraph 19 of the Restricted Appendix 
 
7. REASON FOR DECISION 

 
The value of this contract requires Executive approval under the Council’s Contract Standing 
Orders.  
 
8. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 
Great Hollands was one of eleven South Bracknell primary schools considered for expansion 
by the Education Capital Programme Board in 2014 and it was selected because of the 
schools with sufficient site area, it had a “Good” rating at Ofsted and the estimated cost was 
affordable. 
 
A feasibility study was then undertaken of Great Hollands to identify different options for the 
expansion of the school buildings which has been subject to consultation and agreement 
with the Headteacher and Governing Body.   
 
Doing nothing is not an option because the Council has a statutory duty to provide sufficient 
pupil places.    
 
9. PRINCIPAL GROUPS CONSULTED: Headteacher, Governing Body, parents, 

local neighbours/residents.  
 

10. DOCUMENT CONSIDERED: Report of the Director of Children, Young People & 
Learning. 
 

11. DECLARED CONFLICTS OF INTEREST: None 
 

Date Decision Made Final Day of Call-in Period 

26 January 2016 2 February 2016 

 
SIGNED: ..................................................  DATE: ....................................................  



Unrestricted 
 

 

TO: THE EXECUTIVE 
 9 FEBRUARY 2016 
 

 
SCHOOL ADMISSIONS: REPORT ON CONSULTATIONS ON ADMISSION 

ARRANGEMENTS 2017/18 
Director, Children, Young People and Learning 

 
 
1 PURPOSE OF DECISION 
 
1.1 To report on the results of the consultations into two aspects concerning school 

admissions: changes to the admission arrangements and catchment areas for 
2017/18 entry to schools, and likely changes to catchment areas in the long term. 

1.2 In the light of the consultation outcomes recommend admission arrangements for 
community and, where applicable, voluntary controlled schools for 2017/18 entry to 
schools. 

 
2 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
  
2.1 The report provides details of the formal consultation on changes to admission 

arrangements, held between 1 September and 20 November 2015, and subsequent 
discussions. 

2.2 The recommendations describe the key changes to be made to admission 
arrangements for community schools. 

 

3 RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
3.1 To note the outcomes of the consultations into admissions arrangements. 

3.2 To agree that the feeder primary school admission criterion be removed from 
community secondary school admission arrangements. 

3.3 To agree that no change be made to existing shared designated areas: Binfield 
and Warfield / Whitegrove; Warfield and Whitegrove; College Town and 
Owlsmoor; New Scotland Hill and St Michael’s Sandhurst. 

3.4 To agree that additional shared areas are appropriate for Quelm Park/Lawrence 
Hill between Sandy Lane and Warfield primary schools; for Temple Park 
between Meadow Vale and Binfield Learning Village primary schools; for the 
western half of the current Garth Hill College area between Binfield Learning 
Village (secondary) and Garth Hill College; for the Amen Corner North 
development area between Binfield CE and the new Amen Corner North 
primary schools; and for the TRL development between Crowthorne CE and 
Hatch Ride and Oaklands primary schools.  

3.5 To agree the designated areas to be set for 2017/18 admissions onwards as 
shown in Annex 2 for primary schools and Annex 3 for secondary schools. 

3.6 To approve the admission arrangements for 2017/18 entry to community and, 
where applicable, voluntary controlled schools shown in Annexes 4 to 8. 

 



 

 

4 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
  
4.1 If admission arrangements are required to change, there is a statutory responsibility 

to consult widely and take views expressed into account.  Therefore with expanded 
and new schools likely to open in September 2017 there has been a need to consult 
in 2015 and for revised admission arrangements to be set by the end of February 
2016. 

 
4.2 Statutory and non-statutory consultation took place between 1 September and 20 

November 2015.  
 
 
5 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 
5.1 None.  There is a statutory requirement for consultation and the formal agreement of 

arrangements. 
 
6 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

Background 
 
6.1 On 23 June 2015 the Executive approved a paper to review admissions criteria and 

designated areas (DA) in the light of the new, large housing developments that are 
likely to be built over the next 10 years.  New housing will lead to the creation of large 
numbers of additional school places in existing or new schools. Current admission 
arrangements need to change to reflect these developments. 

 
6.2 Over the next 10 years new housing developments are planned at Amen Corner (on 

two sites, North and South), Binfield Learning Village at  Blue Mountain, the 
Transport Research Laboratory site (TRL) near Crowthorne and in Warfield (on two 
sites, West and East). 

 
6.3 Up to 13 additional primary forms of entry (FE) and up to 9 additional secondary FE 

places are being planned through school expansions or new academy schools as 
part of all these developments. 

6.4 There are two key aspects to the proposed changes:  changes to secondary school 
admission arrangements in 2017/18 and designated area changes affecting both 
primary and secondary schools.   

6.5 Changes to DA boundaries are sensitive and create interest with local communities 
and the media.  As a complex project the Council wished to receive comments in 
order to inform the way forward.  The consultation included the overall anticipated 
DA plan covering the next 5-10 year period.  The implementation of these changes 
will be phased over a number of years through the annual admissions consultation 
process when school providers are known and when schools are ready to open. 

6.6 The Council is progressing in a fair and transparent manner by responding to the 
new schools by establishing DAs for these schools at an early stage.  

The consultation 

6.7 The current arrangement of the five community secondary schools having feeder 
primary schools was recommended for removal in 2017/18.  The highest criteria for 
entry to secondary schools is currently, and will continue to remain, the designated 
area of the secondary school.   

 



 

 

6.8 The following DA changes were recommended to be revised for 2017/18 entry. 

 Establish DAs for the new Binfield Learning Village at Blue Mountain – primary 
and secondary phases. 

 Make the necessary changes in North Bracknell involving Binfield CE, Warfield 
CE, Whitegrove and Sandy Lane schools. 

 Establish a DA for the new school at Amen Corner North, involving Binfield CE 
School. 

 Expand the DA for Crowthorne CE School to include the TRL area, currently in 
Wokingham BC. 

 Consultation to address historic issues of shared DAs affecting Binfield, Warfield 
and Whitegrove schools and minor inconsistencies where the DA boundary does 
not follow the line of the rest of the road. 

6.9 Views were also sought on the anticipated future, long term changes.  The planned 
pattern is based on current knowledge of future school locations, the numbers of 
houses to be built and the envisaged size of schools.  The aim is to create 
designated areas that are more in line with the numbers of houses and families 
within a school’s area.   

6.10   In order to minimise disruption to families with children already at school, parents of 
children attending a school that was their designated area school at the time of 
processing the application, but where the designated area has changed, were 
proposed to have a protection for any younger siblings for the next six years. The 
younger sibling’s application will be processed as living in the designated area of the 
same school as the older sibling is attending even though the designated area has 
changed. 

Consultation outcomes and recommended changes 

6.11 170 responses were made on the online consultation portal. There were a substantial 
number of responses regarding two areas: Quelm Park with 65 responses and 
Chavey Down with 8 responses. 

6.12 In addition longer responses were received from Garth Hill College, the Chavey 
Down Association, Winkfield Parish Council, the Council’s Planning Department and 
two families living in Quelm Park, Sandy Lane School and Warfield CE School. 

6.13 A full report on the consultations is attached as Annex 1.  Given the large population 
who could have replied if they had concerns, the number of responses is reasonable 
but not large.  Many aspects of the consultation received no comments.  The 
outcomes relating to the issues where comments were made are summarised below. 

6.14 In relation to the ‘feeder primary’ criterion for secondary school admissions:  

 It is recommended that the feeder primary criterion be removed from community 
secondary school admission arrangements. 

6.15 Changes relating to designated areas in addition to those proposed in the 
consultation are: 

 It is recommended that the proposed secondary-aged boundary between Garth 
Hill College and Binfield Learning Village be moved westwards to encompass 
roads up to and including the eastern side of Stoney Road.   

 It is recommended that the roads that make up Chavey Down be transferred 
from Holly Spring schools’ DA to the Winkfield St Mary’s Primary School DA.   



 

 

  

Shared areas 

6.16 Various factors need to be managed when DA changes are proposed including 
timing uncertainty presented when new schools will actually open, created by 
developers’ revising their planned house build rates; implications for non-Council 
‘own admissions authorities’; and local community factors.  In order to manage 
these, the consultation proposed a number of shared DAs: 

 The new Amen Corner North School and Binfield CE School. 

 Meadow Vale School and the new Binfield Learning Village primary provision, 
regarding the existing Temple Park development. 

 Crowthorne CE School expanding its DA to include the TRL site, currently in the 
DAs of Hatch Ride and Oaklands Schools in Wokingham. 

 Garth Hill College and the new Binfield Learning Village secondary provision. 
 

 It is recommended that these shared DAs be introduced. 

6.17 It is also recommended that a further shared area be introduced between Warfield 
CE School and Sandy Lane School comprising the areas of Quelm Park and 
Lawrence Hill so that traditional designated areas are maintained and that parents 
from Quelm Park/Lawrence Hill have access to an appropriate local school. 

6.18 With the need explained above to create shared areas, it calls into question the need 
to address and remove existing shared DAs.  The existing shared DAs concerned are: 

 Binfield and Warfield / Whitegrove 

 Warfield and Whitegrove 

 College Town and Owlsmoor 

 New Scotland Hill and St Michael’s Sandhurst 

 To ensure continuity and a consistent approach to DAs across the Borough it is 
recommended that current shared DAs continue with no changes made. 

6.19 Shared areas will ensure a designated area continues for all children irrespective of 
when the new/expanded schools open.  When new school spaces are available the 
option to review shared designated areas will be presented for consultation in the 
future. 

6.20 With the changes recommended above, there is no requirement to agree to 2017/18 
‘sibling priority’ protection as referred to in paragraph 6.10. 

Managing admissions to a school split over two sites 

6.21 The Council has reviewed its suggestion of a midpoint between the two sites of 
Warfield CE Primary School to be used to determine rankings for admissions 
allocations and decided that an alternative approach would be fairer.  The 
recommendation is that the distance to both sites be measured and the closest 
distance then be used should it be needed to apply the distance criterion in ranking 
admissions. 

Proposed DA maps 

6.22 The revised primary schools’ DA map shown in Annex 2 includes all the proposed 
changes Borough-wide. 

6.23 Changes in secondary schools DAs are shown on the map in Annex 3. 



 

 

 

Admission arrangements 2017/18 

6.24 In the light of the consultation outcomes, the proposed admission arrangements for 
community and, where applicable, voluntary controlled schools for 2017/18 are 
attached: 

 

 Primary, Infant and Junior schools in Annex 4 

 Secondary Schools in Annex 5 

 Secondary School Sixth Forms in Annex 6 

 In year applications for primary and secondary schools in Annex 7 

 Nursery classes in Annex 8. 
 
7 CONSULTATION 

Principal Groups Consulted 

7.1 A substantial consultation was held between 1 September and 20 November 2015.  
The consultation was relevant to: 

 Children and young people 

 Their parents and carers 

 Schools and governing bodies 

 Early years and other educational providers and services 

 A range of partnership partners 

 Wider community. 
 

7.2 The consultation had to ensure by statute that the following list of people are 
consulted. Failure to consult effectively may be grounds for subsequent complaints 
and appeals. 

 
a) ‘parents of children between the ages of two and eighteen;  

b) other persons in the relevant area who in the opinion of the admission 
authority have an interest in the proposed admissions;  

c) all other admission authorities within the relevant area (except that primary 
schools need not consult secondary schools); 

d) whichever of the governing body and the local authority who are not the 
admission authority;  

e) any adjoining neighbouring local authorities where the admission authority is 
the local authority; and  

f) in the case of schools designated with a religious character, the body or 
person representing the religion or religious denomination’.  

  
Method of Consultation 

7.3 These included:   

 Information and a questionnaire available on the Council’s consultation portal, 
website and on paper. 

 School-based public meetings.  

 A display in Time Square. 
 

7.4 Promotion included: 

 through leaflets available in schools and emails sent to parents by 
schools; 



 

 

 an exhibition in the Council's Time Square offices from 1 September 
until 20 November; 

 through the Council's social media and website and through press 
releases that were subsequently picked up by local newspapers, 
websites and Radio Berkshire; 

 through direct mailing to relevant partners and stakeholders (including 
early years’ providers, child-minders and local dioceses); 

 posters were circulated to every school, sports centre and library in 
the Borough advertising the 10 public meetings where senior officers 
of the Council were available to hear views and answer questions. 

 

 Representations Received 

7.5 170 responses were made on the online consultation portal. In addition longer 
responses were received from Garth Hill College, the Chavey Down Association, 
Winkfield Parish Council, and two families living in Quelm Park. 

 
8 ADVICE RECEIVED FROM STATUTORY AND OTHER OFFICERS 
 
 Borough Solicitor 
 
8.1 The law affords a LA or any admission authority wide discretion in setting and 

altering admission arrangements and over subscription criteria, as long as the 
admission authority consult in accordance with the statutory requirements (which 
they have done) and the admission criteria is clear and lawful,  It is apparent from the 
proposals that the feeder school changes will be phased in over a number of years to 
remove any unfairness in the short term. In respect of the two schools in the Borough 
proposed to have one designated area and two sites, it would be advisable to set out 
in the admissions booklet that is sent out to parents and carers when they are asked 
to express their preferences, a couple of worked examples of how the measuring  
process  works . The designated area changes do not appear to exclude children 
from neighbouring boroughs or prejudice any particular groups and appear to go 
along natural site lines to accommodate the proposed planning developments and 
the increased density of population in the areas as a consequence of the expansion 
of the settlement in the coming years. It should therefore comply with the designated 
area change principles set out in the Greenwich LBC ex parte John Ball primary 
school case.  

  
Borough Treasurer  

 
8.2 The Borough Treasurer is satisfied that sufficient resources exist to administer the 

proposed admissions arrangements. 
 
8.3 It is well known that a significant, long term building programme is required to provide 

the additional school places that will be required for the growing population. The 
relevant financial implications will be considered as part of the Council's budget 
setting process. 

 
8.4 Changing designated areas will impact on the number of pupils admitted to schools, 

which will in turn impact on revenue funding. Whilst the changes are designed to 
ensure that sufficient places are available in the right locations, some schools are 
likely to face financial challenges during the changes. 

 
 



 

 

 Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 
8.5 An EIA is available for admissions to schools.   
  
  

Strategic Risk Management Issues  
 
8.6 A risk log is attached as Annex 9. 

 
Background Papers 

 
a. Paper to the Executive 23 June 2015, ‘Changes to admission to schools as a 

basis for consultation’  
 
  

Contacts 
 

David Watkins  Chief Officer Strategy, Resources & Early Help  
01344 354061  david.watkins@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 
Graham Symonds School Sufficiency and Commissioning Manager 
01344 354067  graham.symonds@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 
Lesley Adams  Senior Admissions Officer 
01344 354143  Lesley.adams@bracknell-forest.gov.uk  

  

mailto:graham.symonds@bracknell-forest.gov.uk
mailto:Lesley.adams@bracknell-forest.gov.uk


 

 

Annex 1 
 
Report on consultations on school admissions:  

1) Changes to the admission arrangements and catchment areas for 2017/18 
entry to schools 

2) Likely changes to catchment areas in the long term 
 

Introduction and background 

1 On 23 June 2015 the Executive approved a paper to review admissions criteria and 
designated areas (DA) in the light of the new, large housing developments that are 
likely to be built over the next 10 years.  New housing will lead to the creation of large 
numbers of additional school places in existing or new schools. Current admission 
arrangements need to change to reflect these developments. 

2 There is a statutory responsibility to consult widely and take views expressed into 
account.  Therefore with expanded and new schools likely to open in September 
2017 there has been a need to consult in 2015 and for revised admission 
arrangements to be set by the end of February 2016.  Statutory and non-statutory 
consultation took place between 1 September and 20 November 2015. 

3 Two consultations were held in parallel: 

1) Changes to the admission arrangements and catchment areas for 2017/18 entry 
to schools.  As part of this aspect, there was a proposal to remove the ‘feeder 
primary’ criterion from secondary school admission arrangements. 

2) Likely changes to catchment areas in the long term 

Consultation outcomes 

4 170 responses were made on the online consultation portal. There were a substantial 
number of responses regarding two areas: Quelm Park with 65 responses and 
Chavey Down with 8 responses. 

5 In addition longer responses were received from Garth Hill College, the Chavey 
Down Association, Winkfield Parish Council, the Council’s Planning function and two 
families living in Quelm Park, Sandy Lane School and Warfield CE School. 

‘Feeder primary’ secondary school criterion 

6 This proposal was made for two reasons: that 

 Charters School has removed the feeder primary criterion from its admission 
arrangements which has created an issue for arrangements in Bracknell Forest. 

 The second sites being expanded onto by Warfield and Crowthorne primary 
schools are in a different secondary DA to the parent school. 

7 For those who answered the question, 44% were in favour, and 56% against, 
proposals to remove the ‘feeder primary’ secondary school criterion. 

8 It was clear from the comments made that there was some uncertainty over what this 
proposal meant and the practical implications of it.  However the key point made by 
those not in favour was that it would mean children not necessarily transferring to 
secondary school with all their friends, which would put more pressure on children 
and the opportunity to continue a sense of community would be lost.  Others made 
the point that those children allocated a primary school place outside of their local DA 
will not go to the same secondary as their friends. 

9 Some respondents commented on the fairness of the proposal – the clarity that all 
children living in a secondary school’s DA would have a higher priority in being 



 

 

admitted, and that children would be able to transfer to secondary school with their 
neighbours.  Others commented along the lines that it will deter parents from 
applying for an out of DA primary school to get the out of DA secondary school they 
want. 

10 It should be noted that the use of ‘feeder primary’ as an admissions criterion is 
decreasing amongst local authorities. 

 

11 Although children will not necessarily transfer to secondary school with all their 
primary school friends, they will transfer with their neighbours. On the basis that there 
are organisational reasons for the proposal too it is recommended that the feeder 
primary criterion be removed from community secondary school admission 
arrangements. 

Changes to designated areas for 2017/18 entry to schools 

12 For those who answered the question, 24% were in favour, and 76% against, 
proposed changes to designated areas for 2017/18 entry to schools. 

Quelm Park/Lawrence Hill and Warfield and Sandy Lane schools 

13 65 responses concerned the proposed DA of Warfield CE Primary School, and that 
no change was proposed in the DA border between Warfield and Sandy Lane 
schools.  This would mean that the Quelm Park estate remained in Sandy Lane DA. 

14 The Council’s basis for not proposing change in this area was: 

 Quelm Park has traditionally formed part of Sandy Lane DA. 

 There is a risk to numbers at Sandy Lane School of moving out a part of its DA.  
As part of its strategic role, the Council would not wish to undermine the delivery 
of effective education at Sandy Lane School. 

 Calculations demonstrated that the new Warfield West site would eventually be 
full from children in its DA. 

 If children from other areas were allowed to be admitted to the school in the short 
term it can create instability in numbers on roll for many years due to the ‘sibling’ 
admission criteria. 

15 Typically, the reasons suggested by respondees for why the proposals were unfair 
included: 

 Warfield should not be a divided community and all residents of the parish 
should have the same sense of belonging.  Schools can play a key part in 
achieving a single sense of belonging. 

 Quelm Park ward is the only area of Warfield Parish to be excluded from having 
access to Warfield School, continuing to separate Quelm Park from the rest of 
the parish. 

 The Warfield ‘West’ site is located close to Quelm Park, 200M from the Quelm 
Park roundabout, which would mean that children would be able to walk to the 
site. 

 The proposed DAs will create more traffic congestion, and continue parent 
parking issues at Sandy Lane at school drop-off and pick-up times. 

 Part of the proposed change is that areas not in Warfield are to be included in 
the Warfield School DA. 

16 A response was received from two families which presented the Council with six 
options to consider concerning designated areas, the possibility of a shared 
designated area, the use of a midpoint (see below) and questioning the status of the 
Warfield West site as an expansion to Warfield School, rather than being established 
as a new academy. 



 

 

17 The Council recognises the significance of points made by respondees.  Additionally 
the Council has looked again at its assumptions and numbers.  The following points 
should be noted: 

 In the medium term it is forecast that 84 primary aged children will require a 
school place as a result of town centre residential development.  For many 
developments Sandy Lane is the DA primary school. 

 It is estimated that 71 children on roll at Sandy Lane live on the Quelm Park 
estate. 

 As noted above, forecasts for Warfield West will be reduced by 49 pupils, 
meaning that the school will still eventually be full, but no longer as over-
subscribed as it might have been. 

 By including Quelm Park in Warfield School DA, the DA will have a more 
coherent shape. 

 Including a larger area of existing housing - Quelm Park – in the revised DA 
would enable the initial opening strategy, including financing, to be more 
predictable and more likely to see the delivery of effective education than if 
numbers were based on new housing alone. 

18 Following the written consultation stage, Sandy Lane School were consulted about 
the Quelm Park/Lawrence Hill part of their DA being shared with Warfield School.  
The Governing Body accept that a shared area is the wisest way forward with a 
need to work on managing changes in pupil numbers, consequential changes in 
finance, managing a changing contextual profile, managing public perception and 
continuing the school’s improvement trajectory.  Warfield CE School were also 
consulted and have no issues with sharing part of the current Sandy Lane DA. 

19 It is recommended that  the boundary between Sandy Lane Primary and 
Warfield CE Primary be revised to establish a shared area for Quelm 
Park/Lawrence Hill.  This change is included on the revised primary schools’ DA 
map shown in Annex 2. 

The use of a midpoint to determine allocations to Warfield CE Primary School 

20 A specific point made by many responses regarding Quelm Park concerned the 
concept of the midpoint between the two sites to ascertain admission allocation to 
Warfield School.  For a school with two sites some way is needed of fairly calculating 
distance should this be needed to apply the distance criterion in ranking admissions. 
No assumption is made when ranking admissions as to which site the pupil might 
attend; this is decided by the Warfield School Governing Body based on criteria they 
have established.  

21 Respondees pointed out that the concept of a midpoint is hard to understand, is 
unfair to those living closest to the school and favours people living further away from 
the school. Alternative methods would be to measure from a parents’ house to both 
school sites and either add these distances together or take the closest distance. 

22 The Council has reviewed its suggestion of a midpoint and decided that an 
alternative approach would be fairer.  The recommendation is that the distance to 
both sites be measured and the closest distance then be used should it be 
needed to apply the distance criterion in ranking admissions.   

Anticipated longer term changes in DAs 

23 For those who answered the question, 30% were in favour, and 70% against, 
anticipated longer term changes in DAs.  Many comments concerned issues around 
Quelm Park and Warfield School. 

 



 

 

Garth Hill College 

24 Garth Hill College response commented on the uncertainties in the process including 
the accuracy of forecasting and the actual opening date of Binfield Learning Village.     
Although recognising that a shared status DA was the only realistic way forward, they 
commented on the possible destabilisation in the short term with a shared area and 
in the longer term when the shared status is withdrawn.  Destabilising factors such as 
these would, in their view, lead to Garth Hill College being undersubscribed for a 
period. Their key question was what support will the Council be able to provide to LA 
schools impacted negatively (ie. pupil numbers) by the opening of BLV?  With future 
school budgets being tight, it will present as much of a challenge to the new school/s, 
as it will to existing schools like GHC.  Their conclusion is that this is more a question 
about the robustness of the long term strategic plan for the provision of education in 
our area, than it is about the precise details of how DAs should be drawn up. For 
these reasons DAs may, in their view, become largely irrelevant in Bracknell Forest in 
the near future. 

Priestwood - boundary between Garth Hill College and Binfield Learning Village 

25 Five responses commented on the proposed boundary between Garth Hill College 
(GHC) and Binfield Learning Village (BLV).  They made the point that GHC has 
traditionally served the Priestwood community, but in the proposals Priestwood is to 
be included in the BLV designated area.  They would like to see Priestwood 
continuing to feed into GHC, or the parts of Priestwood closest to GHC to continue to 
feed into the College.  To delimit a residential area closest to GHC, Stoney Road and 
the roads to the east were described as a better boundary. 

26 It is estimated that 10 secondary-aged children per year group (years 7 to 11) live in 
the area delimited by Stoney Road and roads to the east. 

27 This is not an issue regarding 2017/18 admissions as the proposal relating to this 
year is for a shared area for the part of the GHC DA that is to become BLV DA. It 
would become a factor to consider whenever the shared area is removed and BLV 
DA is separated from GHC DA.  Alternatively it could be addressed at the current 
time so that the future position is clear.  It is therefore recommended that the 
proposed boundary between GHC and BLV be moved westwards to 
encompass roads as far west as Stoney Road.  Areas south of the Wokingham 
Road are in an industrial estate and few, if any, children live in this area. The 
precise area is shown on the revised secondary schools’ DA map in Annex 3. 

Boundary between Warfield West and Warfield East  

28 An issue contributed by the Council’s planners following publication of the 
consultation concerns the boundaries to be established in the long term between the 
proposed Warfield CE School DA and ‘Warfield East’ DA.  To ensure that Section 
106 contributions are correctly attributable to the right school, they propose that three 
‘parcels’ of development land (two with housing, one parcel being open space) are 
moved from the Warfield to ‘Warfield East’ DA.  It is forecast that 49 pupils will no 
longer be included in Warfield’s proposed numbers and be added to ‘Warfield East’s 
numbers.  When separate DAs are established for Warfield, Whitegrove and 
‘Warfield East’ schools this issue will be addressed. 

Other comments 

29 Seven respondees, plus the Chavey Down Association and Winkfield Parish Council, 
commented that the area of Chavey Down should be added to the DA of Winkfield St 
Mary’s (WSM) Primary School.  Their argument was that Chavey Down was taken 
out of the DA of the school in 1998 when it was over-subscribed, with the area 



 

 

subsequently feeding into Holly Spring Infant and Junior Schools.  This decision was 
made by Berkshire County Council (BCC), and implemented as BCC ceased to exist 
and its powers were transferred to unitary councils, including Bracknell Forest 
Council.  Bracknell Forest members at this time stated that the area would return to 
WSM School when the opportunity arose.  WSM is seen as the traditional school for 
the area, one attended by village children for over 120 years, attended by 5 
generations of the same families, is closest, children can walk to school and it is the 
school for which many families have fundraised over the years to enhance facilities. 

30 The number of children living in the roads concerned is low, currently 23 primary 
aged children of which none go to the DA school, Holly Spring.  WSM is, traditionally, 
full but there is no DA pressure for places.  It is therefore recommended that the 
roads that make up Chavey Down be transferred from Holly Spring DA to the 
WSM DA.  The precise change is shown on the revised primary schools’ DA map in 
Annex 2. 

31 Many ‘other’ comments made repeated respondees’ views in relation to DAs in the 
short and long terms.  Amongst the remaining comments made, and the Council’s 
response, were: 

Comment Response 

Querying why some schools – voluntary 
controlled schools – have a religious 
criterion which may disadvantage local 
children not attending church 

As part of this review of arrangements, 
voluntary controlled schools were 
requested to review the continuation of 
their religion criteria.  All schools 
confirmed that they wished this criterion 
to continue 

The need for a joined up planning 
process with neighbouring authorities 

Meetings to share information and issues 
take place, roughly twice yearly 

Comments about the way that children 
will be allocated between the two sites of 
an expanded school 

The school will be treated as a single 
entity for admissions purposes, and 
allocation between the sites is a matter 
for the governing body of the school 

The need for arrangements to be flexible 
until there is more certainty about school 
opening dates 

Where this may be an issue, shared DAs 
are recommended in the short term as a 
transitional arrangement 

Why catchment areas for Bracknell 
Forest schools include parts of 
Wokingham Borough 

This is a feature of Bracknell Forest DAs 
that was established by Berkshire CC.  It 
ensures that all children in Crowthorne 
village go to the same secondary school.  
There is no proposal to change this 
aspect. 

It should also be noted that North Ascot 
and Cranbourne communities are in the 
DA of a school in the RB of Windsor and 
Maidenhead.  

The need for communities to be kept 
together, rather than be split between 
different schools.  This comment was 
often made by Quelm Park parents. 

The Council recognises this argument.  
Where possible it will strive to continue to 
provide ‘local schools for local children’. 

 



 

 

A shared area is proposed between 
Meadow Vale School and Binfield 
Learning Village regarding the Temple 
Park area.  Meadow Vale School raised a 
concern that if this area in the long term 
were to move to Binfield Learning Village 
alone then this would change the socio-
economic balance of their designated 
area. 

The School Admissions Code states that 
Admissions Authorities must ensure that 
their arrangements do not disadvantage 
unfairly a child from a particular social or 
racial group.  The Council believes that 
the degree of social difference within a 
DA is not so marked that any changes 
will significantly alter the social mix.  The 
area will be shared for the immediate 
future and no decisions have been made 
regarding the longer term. 

The certainty that can be given to 
arrangements when academy providers 
are not yet appointed. 

Providers will be required to participate in 
the Council’s co-ordinated scheme for 
the normal admissions rounds and the 
Council’s in-year Fair Access 
procedures.  

Transition admission arrangements are 
in place and can remain until a provider 
indicates that they wish to change them.   

DAs should prioritise walking to school, 
to avoid journeys having to be made by 
car. 

Walking to school routes can be 
subjective and can change, or children 
are taken by car, in poor weather 
conditions or on dark mornings. 

The importance of communicating 
change effectively and making changes 
with sufficient warning 

Noted.  The Council is making plans 
within the required timeframes. 

 
 
 
 
 
Graham Symonds 
School Sufficiency and Commissioning Manager 
 
01344 354067 
Graham.symonds@bracknell-forest.gov.uk  
 
 

  

mailto:Graham.symonds@bracknell-forest.gov.uk


 

 

Annex 2 
 

 



 

 

 
 
Annex 3:  
 

 



 

 

 
  



 

 

Annex 4  
 

School Admissions Arrangements 
2017/18 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Coordinated Scheme for Admission to Primary, 
Infant and Junior Schools, incorporating admission 

policies for community and voluntary controlled 
schools  

For entry to schools in 2017-2018  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
CO-ORDINATED ADMISSIONS SCHEME FOR PRIMARY ADMISSIONS 

2017/2018 
 
BACKGROUND  
 
Legislation requires Local Authorities (LA) to draw up a statutory scheme for co-
ordinating admission arrangements for all maintained schools in its area (excluding 
special schools, but including aided schools and academies).    
 
The purpose of a co-ordinated scheme is to ensure that every parent of a child living 
in the Bracknell Forest Council’s area who has applied for a place in the normal 
admissions round receives an offer of only one place on the same day.  Any scheme 
should also aim to ensure that parents are treated fairly and consistently regardless 
of the status of the school for which they make an application. 
 
When drawing up admissions arrangements, admissions authorities must ensure 
that the practices and the criteria used to decide the allocation of school places are 
clear, fair and objective, for the benefit of all children, including those with special 
educational needs, disabilities or in the care of the LA, including those children who 
were previously in care. The Admissions Arrangements must also comply with the 
relevant legislation, including the equalities legislation.  Bracknell Forest Local 
Authority’s admissions criteria for its maintained schools reflect these requirements.  
Admissions arrangements should enable parents to express their preference.  There 
is no guarantee that a school place will be available at the school(s) chosen by the 
parents.  However, the Admissions Authority will adhere to the parent’s expressed 
preference subject to availability of a school places and in accordance with the 
relevant oversubscription criteria.  
  
MAIN DETAILS OF THE CO-ORDINATED SCHEME 
 

 Equal preferences 
 
The DfE (Department for Education) states that a co-ordinated scheme is based on 
equal preferences.   In other words all preferences are treated as equal initially.  If 
more than one place can be offered, the single offer will be for the school the 
parent/carer has ranked highest.  If a place cannot be offered at any of the 
preference schools, then a place will be offered at the next nearest school with 
available spaces. 
 
This system allows each preference that parents/carers give to be considered 
separately.  If a child could be allocated a place at two or more of its preference 
schools, then the parents’ ranking will be used as a tie breaker.   
 
The scheme will not affect the duty of the Governors of Aided Schools or academies 
to set and apply their own admissions arrangements.  These schools will continue to 
be able to operate their own over subscription criteria and these must be clear, fair 
and objective and they must comply with the School Admissions Code. 
  

 Information for parents 
 
Information regarding the scheme and the admissions arrangements will be 
published in the LA’s composite prospectus. This is entitled A Parent’s Guide to 
Primary School Admissions in Bracknell Forest for children starting at a primary or an 
infant school in the school year 1 September 2017 to 31 August 2018 for children 



 

 19 

born on or between 1 September 2012 and 31 August 2013. The guide also provides 
information for parents of those children applying to transfer from infant to junior 
school. This guide will be available on the Bracknell Forest Council’s website from 
12th September prior to the admissions year and hard copies will be available for 
those who do not have access to the internet. 
 
 

 Making an Application 
  

Bracknell Forest residents can apply for a place for any primary or infant school 
either on line or using a Common Application Form.  It must also be used if residents 
wish to apply for a primary or infant school outside the Borough.  All applications will 
be recorded by the home LA and then sent to the maintaining LA for each of the 
preference schools in accordance with the co-ordinated scheme’s timetable.  
 
If non Bracknell Forest residents wish to apply for a Bracknell Forest school they 
should use their home LA form or internet access site of their home LA to apply. That 
request will then be transferred electronically by that Local Authority to Bracknell 
Forest Council by the date in the scheme. 

 
o Common Application Form 

 
All applicants living in Bracknell Forest can use the LA’s Common Application Form 
(CAF) to make an application.  Parents will need to register with the School 
Admissions Team from May 2016 to receive information on how to apply for a school 
place. 
 
Parents will be allowed to name up to three schools and parents are encouraged to 
do this.  Parents will be asked to rank their preferences.  They will also be allowed to 
give reasons for each preference, referring these to the admissions criteria. 
 
If applicants wish for one or more of their preferences to be considered under the 
designated area criteria then they will have to send in a copy of their current council 
tax statement in order to prove their residency. If an applicant does not have a copy 
of their council tax statement then they should contact their council tax office to 
obtain a copy. Service families should refer to the General Information section below. 
 
Any Supplementary Information Forms issued by an aided school or an academy can 
either be returned to the school or to Bracknell Forest Council School Admissions 
Team. These forms are available on the Bracknell Forest Council’s website, the 
school website or on request from the School Admissions Team.  
 
 

o On Line Applications 
 

Parents have the option of completing an on-line application. Parents will be able to 
apply for a primary school place on line via the council’s website. Information on how 
to do this will be available in the Parent’s Guide and on the Bracknell Forest 
Council’s website.  The site will be open for applications from 1 November 2016 to 
midday 16 January 2017.  
 
If applicants wish for one or more of their preferences to be considered under the 
designated area criteria then they will have to send in a copy of their current council 
tax statement in order to prove their residency. Service families should refer to the 
General Information section below. 



 

 20 

 
 

 Applications for Aided Schools or Academies 
 
Aided Schools or academies can prepare a Supplementary Information Form (SIF) to 
be completed with the on line application/common application form if they require 
further information in order for them to allocate places at their school against their 
admissions criteria.  Governing Bodies of VA schools and academies and the Local 
Authority will make the SIF available to parents/carers both in hard copy and as a 
document on their school website.  The forms will be available from and can be 
returned to either the individual schools or the Local Authority. 
  
The LA will process all the applications for the Aided schools and academies and 
then transfer the information electronically to schools. On Line applicants who name 
a school that may require the completion of a SIF will be prompted by the system to 
complete and return the form in addition to their on line application if necessary. 
 
The Governing Bodies of Aided schools and academies will need to meet within the 
timescales defined in the scheme in order to advise the LA of their ranking of their 
applications.  The LA will require the Governors to produce a brief statement which 
will explain to applicants (and future appellants) how and why places have been 
ranked.  The LA will make this statement available on their website and hard copies 
will be available on request.  
 

 Applications made after the closing date of 16 January 2017 
 

o Late Application  
 
Where it can reasonably be assumed that an application could have been made by 
the closing date of 16 January 2017 the application will be processed by the School 
Admissions Team in the second round which begins on 2 May 2017. 
 
 

o Moving into Bracknell Forest 
 
Where it can reasonably be assumed that an application could not have been made 
by the closing date of 16 January 2017 (for example if they have just moved into 
Bracknell Forest) but the application form is submitted by 9 February 2017 the 
application will be considered on time. However evidence to support the reason for 
the late application will be required by the Local Authority. If the application is 
received after 9 February 2017 it will be processed in the second round which begins 
on 2 May 2017. 
 
 

o Moving within Bracknell Forest 
 

If parents move house within Bracknell Forest after the closing date of 16 January 
2017 and by 9 February 2017 they must contact the Local Authority to discuss any 
changes they may be able to make to their preferences. They will be accommodated 
if at all possible. If parents move house after 9 February 2017 the request will be 
processed in the second round which begins on 2 May 2017. 
 
 
 



 

 21 

OVERSUBSCRIPTION CRITERIA 
 
Within Bracknell Forest there are 25 primary schools, 3 infant schools. Of these, 6 
primary schools are either voluntary aided or academy schools and set their own 
admission criteria. Of the remaining 19 are community school and 3 are voluntary 
controlled schools and the LA sets the admission criteria for these schools. The 
criteria for all of these schools can be found in the ‘Guide to Primary Admissions 
within Bracknell Forest’, on the Bracknell Forest Council’s website or from the school. 
However to make an application for any school (including schools outside of 
Bracknell Forest) they must be listed as a preference.  
 
In circumstances where more applications than places are received for Bracknell 
Forest maintained schools the following criteria will be used. 
 

o Oversubscription Criteria for community schools 

The LA is the admission authority for community schools and sets the admission 

criteria. 
 
The following criteria apply to these 19 Bracknell Forest community schools: 
 

Ascot Heath Infant Holly Spring Infant  Wildridings Primary 

Birch Hill Primary Meadow Vale Primary Wooden Hill Primary 

College Town Infant New Scotland Hill Primary Wildmoor Heath Primary 

Cranbourne Primary Owlsmoor Primary  

Crown Wood Primary The Pines Primary  

Fox Hill Primary Sandy Lane Primary   

Great Hollands Primary  Uplands Primary  

Harmans Water Primary  Whitegrove Primary  

 
Children with a Statement of Special Educational Needs or an Education Health & 
Care Plan that names a specific school must, by law, be admitted to that school.  
After this requirement has been satisfied the following rules will apply: 
 
(A) Looked After Children1 and all previously looked after children. Previously 

looked after children are children who were looked after, but ceased to be so 
because they were adopted2 (or became subject to a child arrangements 
order3 or special guardianship order4) immediately following having been 
looked after. 

 
(B) Children who have either medical or social grounds for admission to a 

particular school. This evidence must set out the particular reason why the 
school in question is the only suitable school and the difficulties caused if the 
child had to attend another school.  The LA’s decision in these matters is 
final. 

 

                                                
1 A 'looked after child' is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being provided with accommodation by a local 

authority in the exercise of their social services functions (see the definition in Section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989) at the 
time of making an application to a school.   

2 This includes children who were adopted under the Adoption Act 1976 (see section 12 adoption orders) and children who were 
adopted under the Adoption and Children’s Act 2002 (see section 46 adoption orders). 

3 Child arrangements orders are defined in s.8 of the Children Act 1989, as amended by s.12 of the Children and Families Act 
2014. Child arrangements orders replace residence orders and any residence order in force prior to 22 April 2014 is deemed 
to be a child arrangements order. 

4 See Section 14A of the Children Act 1989 which defines a ‘special guardianship order’ as an order 
appointing one or more individuals to be a child’s special guardian (or special guardians).   



 

 22 

(C) Children who live in the designated area of the school. 

 
(D) Children who have siblings, brother(s) or sister(s), at the school, and who will 

still be attending the school at the time of the child’s admission.  
 

 
In some cases a tie-breaker will be required. If a school does not have places for all 
the children in one of the above criteria, priority will be given to children who fulfil a 
combination of higher admission criteria.  The combination of criteria (categories) will 
follow the same order of priority as the basic list of criteria.  (eg. an applicant who 
fulfils designated area and sibling will take precedence over one who fulfils 
designated area only). 
 
After this, if there are still insufficient places, and no distinction can be made between 
the applicants or if they do not fulfil any of the above criteria, a final decision will be 
made on the radial distance (straight line distance on a map) between the home and 
the school. Those living nearer to the school will be placed higher than those living 
further away.  Radial distance will be based on the co-ordinates for the property and 
the school as defined in the Local Land and Property Gazetteer and based on the 
Ordnance Survey’s national system. 
Distances are measured using direct distance calculations within a computer system. 
The measurement of each distance has been calculated using Pythagoras’ Theorem. 
The way in which this is done is to calculate the distance in metres between the 
Easting and Northing co-ordinates for each location. The measurement in metres is 
then multiplied by 0.000621317 to convert this measurement to miles.  The same 
method of calculation is used for each direct distance measured. This can be to 
three, four or five decimal places where necessary. 

 
If in the event that two or more children live at the same distance from school and it 
cannot be separated, for example where families live in flats and there are fewer 
places available, then random allocation will be used to decide which child will be 
allocated the remaining place(s). The process will be drawn and scrutinised by 
people who are independent of the Council. 
 
Where demand exists, schools admit up to their admission number and no places are 
reserved for pupils moving into their designated area. 

 
o Oversubscription criteria for voluntary controlled primary schools 

 

The LA is the admission authority for their voluntary controlled schools and sets the 

admission criteria. 

These criteria apply to the following schools: 

 

Crowthorne CE Primary  Winkfield St Mary’s CE Primary  

Warfield CE Primary   

 

If the number of requests for places is equal to or less than the number of places 

available, then all applicants could be offered a place at that school. 

 
Children with a Statement of Special Educational Needs or an Education Health and 
Care Plan that names a specific school must, by law, be admitted to that school.  
After this requirement has been satisfied the following rules will apply: 



 

 23 

 
 
(A)  Looked After Children5 and all previously looked after children. Previously 

looked after children are children who were looked after, but ceased to be so 
because they were adopted6 (or became subject to a child arrangements 
order7 or special guardianship order8) immediately following having been 
looked after. 

 
(B) Children who have either medical or social grounds for admission to a 

particular school. This evidence must set out the particular reason why the 
school in question is the only suitable school and the difficulties caused if the 
child had to attend another school.  The LA’s decision in these matters is 
final. 

 
C) Children who live in the designated area of the school. 

 
(D) Children who have siblings, brother(s) or sister(s), at the school, and who will 

still be attending the school at the time of the child’s admission.  
 

 
(E) Children whose parents choose the school on denominational grounds. 
 
 
In some cases a tie-breaker will be required.  If a school does not have places for all 
the children in one of the above criteria, priority will be given to children who fulfil a 
combination of higher admission criteria.  The combination of criteria (categories) will 
follow the same order of priority as the basic list of criteria.  (eg. an applicant who 
fulfils designated area and sibling will take precedence over one who fulfils 
designated area only). 
 
After this, if there are still insufficient places, and no distinction can be made between 
the applicants or if they do not fulfil any of the above criteria, a final decision will be 
made on the radial distance (straight line distance on a map) between the home and 
the school. Those living nearer to the school will be placed higher than those living 
further away.  Radial distance will be based on the co-ordinates for the property and 
the school as defined in the Local Land and Property Gazetteer and based on the 
Ordnance Survey’s national system. 
 
Distances are measured using direct distance calculations within a computer system. 
The measurement of each distance has been calculated using Pythagoras’ Theorem. 
The way in which this is done is to calculate the distance in metres between the 
Easting and Northing co-ordinates for each location. The measurement in metres is 
then multiplied by 0.000621317 to convert this measurement to miles.  The same 
method of calculation is used for each direct distance measured. This can be to 
three, four or five decimal places where necessary. 
  

                                                
5 A 'looked after child' is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being provided with accommodation by a local 

authority in the exercise of their social services functions (see the definition in Section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989) at the 
time of making an application to a school.   

6 This includes children who were adopted under the Adoption Act 1976 (see section 12 adoption orders) and children who were 
adopted under the Adoption and Children’s Act 2002 (see section 46 adoption orders). 

7 Child arrangements orders are defined in s.8 of the Children Act 1989, as amended by s.12 of the Children and Families Act 
2014. Child arrangements orders replace residence orders and any residence order in force prior to 22 April 2014 is deemed 
to be a child arrangements order. 

8 See Section 14A of the Children Act 1989 which defines a ‘special guardianship order’ as an order 
appointing one or more individuals to be a child’s special guardian (or special guardians).   



 

 24 

If in the event that two or more children live at the same distance from school and it 
cannot be separated, for example where families live in flats and there are fewer 
places available, then random allocation will be used to decide which child will be 
allocated the remaining place(s). The process will be drawn and scrutinised by 
people who are independent of the council. 

 

 Denominational Grounds 
 

Where denominational grounds are a reason for the application for a voluntary 

controlled school where the LA is the admission authority (Crowthorne CE School, 

Warfield CE School and Winkfield CE School), it will be necessary for at least one of 

the parents/carers of the child concerned to regularly attend a church that is part of 

the group of Churches Together. This group includes the following category of 

churches - Church of England, all the protestant non-conformist churches (e.g. 

Baptist, Methodist, United Reform) and Roman Catholic or any other Christian 

denominational church.   
 
At least one of the parents/carers, who live at the same address as the child, must 
attend worship on at least two occasions in each calendar month for at least 8 
months of the year in the 12 months prior to the published closing date for 
admissions or the date of application if it is an in-year application. Attendance does 
not include services of marriage, funerals or christenings (except for the christening 
of the child seeking entrance to the particular school). 
 
Applicants will need to complete the relevant form in order to confirm that they are 
applying to the school on denominational grounds. In addition it will then be 
necessary for the form to be passed onto their local clergy for verification before it is 
sent to the School Admissions Team. 
 
Application for Warfield CofE School 
 
Applications for Warfield C of E School are made for the school not a particular site. 
Places will be available across both sites - All Saints Rise and at Woodhurst Park. 
 
Parents should in the usual way name Warfield as one of their preferences on their 
common application form. They can then request which site they would prefer their 
child to attend. However this is just a request and does not form part of the 
application and admission process. The offer of a school place will be made for the 
school not the site. 
 
If there are more applicants than places within the same criteria then the tie break will 
be distance as follows: 

 
o Each applicant will be measured using the distance to each site 
o The tie break will be the nearest site 

 
The school will be given the list of those allocated a place and their preferred site. 

The school will also be given information around siblings and distances to both sites 

to help them organise their classes across the two sites. 

After all places has been accepted the parent will be written to by the school and the 

parent will be informed as to which site their child will be taught on. 



 

 25 

Should parents then turn down the offer of a place (either because they no longer 
wish for the site offered or for another reason) then the offer will be withdrawn. The 
Department for Education guidance states that there is no right of appeal for a site, 
only for a school. 
 
Faith-based school with a religious character 

 

A faith-based school with a religious character is required to offer every child who 

applies, whether of the faith, another faith, or no faith, a place at the school if there is 

a place available.  However, faith-based schools are popular and often over 

subscribed.  Such schools are permitted to use faith-based oversubscription criteria 

and allocate places by reference to faith where the school is oversubscribed. 
 
 
 
 
 

o Voluntary Aided and Academy Schools 
 
Within Bracknell Forest there are 6 voluntary aided or academy primary schools and 
they are each their own admissions authority. Some of these schools require 
Supplementary Information Forms to be completed. The forms can be found on 
either the schools website, the council’s website or from the school direct and can be 
returned to either the school or the LA by the required deadline to be considered as 
part of the application. 
 
The 5 voluntary aided primary schools within Bracknell Forest are as follows: 
 

Binfield Primary CE School St Michael’s East’d CE Primary School 

Jennett’s Park CE Primary School St Michael’s Sandh’t CE Primary School 

St Joseph’s RC Primary School  

 
There is 1 academy primary school within Bracknell Forest  
 

St Margaret Clitherow RC Primary School 

 

 ALLOCATION PROCESS 
 

As soon as all applications have been received, including those submitted on line 
and from outside Bracknell Forest, the LA will consider all applications equally for its 
maintained schools and apply the admissions arrangements as published.    
 
Offers will be sent to parents by their home LA on 17 April 2017. The home LA will 
advise all parents of the result of their application.  If they have been refused a place 
at one of their preference schools they will be informed of the reasons for refusal and 
the details of how to make an appeal. Parents will also be required to accept the offer 
of a place by 2 May 2017. Failure to do this could result in the offer of a school place 
being withdrawn. Parents will also be required to send a copy of their child’s birth 
certificate at this time to the School Admissions Team. 
 
The Governors of an aided school or an academy will make their decisions based on 
the information received from applicants on the common application form or on line 
and the SIF where necessary.   



 

 26 

 
The Governors will rank all the applications for their school and advise the LA of the 
results.  Their ranked list will include all on time applications.  The Governors will 
provide a statement explaining how places have been ranked and (where 
appropriate) the reasons why all the preferences have not been met.  This statement 
will be available on the Bracknell Forest Council’s website on 17 April 2017 and a 
hard copy can be sent to parents if requested.  
 
On behalf of the Governors of the aided school or academy the home LA will advise 
all applicants of the results of their application.  The home LA will advise those 
applicants who are refused a place of their right of appeal and of the arrangements in 
place for making an appeal. 
 
If the LA cannot offer a place at any of the preferred schools then an offer will be 
made to the parent for a place for their child at the next nearest school to the home 
address of the family, this may not necessarily be their designated area school and it 
may be some distance from their home address.  
  
All parents will be offered a full time place for their child to start school in the 
September following their fourth birthday. Parents can request that the date their 
child is admitted to the school is deferred until later in the academic year or until the 
child’s statutory school age. If this delayed date is September 2017 (for summer born 
children who reach statutory school age at this time), their child’s entry will be as a 
year 1 child and a new application must be made. Parents can request that their child 
takes up a part time* place until their child reaches statutory school age. For an 
explanation of statutory school age see General Information below. 
 
*Part time is defined as either 5 mornings or 5 afternoons a week.  
 

 The allocation process – non Bracknell Forest schools 
 
Parents who have applied for schools outside Bracknell Forest will be sent the results 
of their application by their home LA on 17 April 2017.In order to do this the 
maintaining LA will inform the home LA whether they are able to allocate a place at 
any of the preferred schools.   The home LA will then consider all the preferences 
and possible offers.  The home LA will offer a place at the school that was ranked the 
highest by the parent/carer.   
 
If the home LA cannot offer a place at any of the preferred schools then an offer will 
be made to the parent for a place for their child at the next nearest school to the 
home address of the family, this may not necessarily be their designated area school 
and it may be some distance from their home address.  
 
All non Bracknell Forest admissions authorities will be expected to provide the home 
LA with a detailed statement explaining how places have been allocated and (where 
appropriate) the reasons why all the preferences have not been met in order to 
inform the applicants where necessary.   
 

 The Allocation Process - Pupils with Statements of Special Educational 
Needs  

 
Admission of children with a statement of Special Educational Needs (SEN) or 
Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) pupils to school will be managed by the 
Special Needs Team In accordance with the Code of Practice for Pupils with Special 



 

 27 

Educational Needs The parents will be informed of their child’s allocated secondary 
school by 14 February 2017 by the SEN Team. 
 

 GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

 Statutory school age 
 
Statutory school age is defined as the following: 
 
If a child’s birthday falls on or between 1 September and 31 December they will 
become of statutory school age on the 1 January after they turn 5, which is defined 
as the start of the spring term. They will start in a reception class where they will 
spend two terms before starting in a Year 1 class in the following September. 
 
If your child’s birthday falls on or between 1 January and 31 March they will become 
statutory school age on 1 April, which is defined as the start of the summer term. 
They will start in a reception class where they will spend one term before starting in a 
Year 1 class in the September. 
 
If your child’s birthday falls on or between 1 April and 31 August they will become of 
statutory school age on the 1 September, which is defined as the start of the autumn 
term. However you are unable to defer entry to a new academic year; a new 
application would have to be made for a place in Year 1. 
 
However all children will be offered a full time start in the September following their 
fourth birthday. 

 

 Multiple Births 
 
Where the LA has received applications for twins or other multiple births and when 
one of the siblings is the last child to be admitted the other sibling(s) may be admitted 
as an exception. 
 

 Child arrangements orders (previously called shared residence orders) 
 
It is increasingly common that parents are agreeing, and courts are endorsing, child 
arrangements orders (previously called shared residence orders) under Section 8 of 
The Children Act 1989.  Further advice on this matter can be obtained from the 
School Admissions Team. Any details regarding these arrangement orders, or the 
child’s living arrangements, must be submitted at the time of application.  It is the 
parents’ responsibility to provide this information. As a general rule shared residence 
is based (for admissions purposes) on the number of school nights a child spends at 
the home. The School Admissions Team may take legal advice on these matters as 
they relate to a specific case. A main address will need to be used to process the 
application. If the second parent/carer’s address is different from the first they will not 
receive any information/letters unless this is requested.  
  

 Home address 
 
The address where the child lives at the closing date of 16 January 2017 will be used 
to process the application. It is for the applicant to satisfy the Admissions Authority 
that they live at the address that they state.  If fraud is suspected then further proof 
may be requested.  If fraud is established then any offer of a school place will be 
withdrawn. If a parent/carer owns a property within the Borough which they do not 



 

 28 

occupy and/or rent out and then move into another property within, or nearer to the 
designated area of the preferred school, the address of the property they own will be 
the address used for determining their designated area, unless the owned house has 
been rented out for 12 months prior to the closing date for the return of the Common 
Application Form. 
  
If an applicant already owns a property within the borough which is in the process of 
being sold Bracknell Forest is able to accept the address of the new property on 
submission of the appropriate evidence in support eg. a solicitor’s letter showing 
exchange of contracts. The address must be a permanent address, temporary 
addresses are not acceptable. If applicants are in the process of moving house within 
Bracknell Forest they should contact School Admissions Team for further advice.  
 

 Protected Sibling Status 
 
Parents of children attending a school that was their designated area school at the 
time of processing the application but where the designated area has changed will 
have a protection for any younger siblings for the next six years. The younger 
sibling’s application will be processed as living in the designated area of the same 
school as the older sibling is attending even though the designated area has 
changed. 
 
It is the parent’s responsibility to inform the School Admissions Team on their 
application that that they fulfil this criterion. This information will then be verified by 
the School Admissions Team. Parents must enclose a copy of their current council 
tax notice. 
 
The child must still be living at the address within the original designated area from 
where the parents applied for the older sibling. If a child’s address has changed then 
this criterion will not be applied. 
 
The older sibling must also still be attending the school where the protected sibling 
status is being requested. 
 
Note that in all cases the normal admission process will be followed and there will be 
no guarantee of a place at the school.  
 

 Applicants from abroad  
 

If families are moving (for the first time) into the Bracknell Forest area from abroad, 
then they (including the child) must be resident in Bracknell Forest before an 
application for a school place can be accepted.  Proof of residency within Bracknell 
Forest will be required.  If they are living abroad and returning to a property that they 
own, within Bracknell Forest, then they will need to produce written proof confirming 
the details and timing of the relocation. Further advice on the documentation required 
can be obtained from the School Admissions Team.  
 

 Service Families 
 
Families of UK service personnel with a confirmed posting to the Bracknell Forest 
area (or Crown Servants returning from overseas to live in Bracknell Forest) will be 
able to make an application for a school place if it is accompanied by an official letter 
from the relevant service declaring a relocation date and a Unit postal address or 
quartering address. 



 

 29 

 
For those service families who already live in Bracknell Forest or are moving to live in 
Bracknell Forest a formal letter from their chain of command verifying their address 
would be accepted if applying under the designated area criteria. 
 

 Looked After and Previously Looked After Children 
 
Criteria A includes those children form whom a request for the allocation of a place 
for a child has been made and who is Looked After Children9 and all previously 
looked after children. Previously looked after children are children who were looked 
after, but ceased to be so because they were adopted10 (or became subject to a 
child arrangements order11 or special guardianship order12) immediately following 
having been looked after. 
 
If a parent or LA (where relevant) wishes to apply under this criterion it is their 
responsibility to ensure that all relevant paper work is submitted with the application., 
for example a copy of the relevant order issued by the family court. Should a parent 
not submit any relevant documentation with their application it will be assumed that 
the parent does not wish these circumstances to be taken in to account. 
 
 

Social Grounds or Medical Grounds (criterion B) 
 
If a parent has indicated on the Common Application Form that they wish their 
application to be considered on either social or medical need it is their responsibility 
to obtain a form which must be completed and returned to the School Admissions 
Team along with supporting written evidence from a professional by the given closing 
date.  The supporting evidence for medical grounds should be from the relevant 
registered professional(s) involved with the child or family. Examples include 
registered health professionals, such as Consultant, GP, Psychologist, Psychiatrist; 
or registered social care professionals such as a Social Worker / Care Manager.  
Please note, evidence from childminders will not normally be accepted as sufficient 
evidence. All evidence must be on letter headed paper. 
 
This evidence must set out the particular reasons why the school in question is the 
only suitable school and the difficulties caused if the child had to attend another 
school. This evidence must be specific to the school in question; it must show why 
only that school is the most suitable; what facilities will benefit the child, and why no 
other school can offer the same support. Where relevant this school must be the 
most appropriate for the family circumstances. However it will not be possible to 
consider an application under this criterion if no supporting evidence is supplied. The 
Local Authority will not contact professionals involved with the family as it is for the 
applicant to supply this information when submitting the social/medical form. The LA 
reserves the right to ask parents to supply further evidence or clarification where the 
LA considers necessary. It is important that applicants seeking to rely on these 
grounds provide the fullest supporting evidence they can by the closing date. It is the 

                                                
9 A 'looked after child' is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being provided with accommodation by a local 

authority in the exercise of their social services functions (see the definition in Section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989) at the 
time of making an application to a school.   

10 This includes children who were adopted under the Adoption Act 1976 (see section 12 adoption orders) and children who 
were adopted under the Adoption and Children’s Act 2002 (see section 46 adoption orders). 

11 Child arrangements orders are defined in s.8 of the Children Act 1989, as amended by s.12 of the Children and Families Act 
2014. Child arrangements orders replace residence orders and any residence order in force prior to 22 April 2014 is deemed 
to be a child arrangements order. 

12 See Section 14A of the Children Act 1989 which defines a ‘special guardianship order’ as an order 
appointing one or more individuals to be a child’s special guardian (or special guardians).   



 

 30 

parent’s responsibility to produce this evidence.  Where further evidence is required it 
will need to be supplied by the closing date so that the decision can be made 
alongside all other applications for places at the particular school. Evidence 
submitted after the closing date will not be considered.  Only in exceptional 
circumstances the LA may apply it’s discretion to consider evidence submitted after 
the closing date.  It is therefore very important to submit all relevant evidence 
together with the application to avoid possible delay.  But in any event all the relevant 
evidence must be submitted by the closing date to ensure full and proper 
consideration. 
 
 
Medical 
If a child or the parent/ carer of that child has a medical condition, that is a serious 
chronic health condition, or one that would cause significant hardship or risk if the 
child could not attend the preferred school it must be indicated on the application. 
 
All schools have the resources to work with special educational needs and common 
childhood complaints such as asthma.  
 
Social 
If a child or the parent/ carer of that child has a social need that would cause 
significant hardship or risk if the child could not attend the preferred school it must be 
indicated on the application.  
 
Also considered under this criterion on social grounds will be parents who have 
applied for a place at their designated area school as a higher preferred school (than 
the one offered) 
 for an older child by the published closing date and the local authority have been 
unable to meet this preference and a place has been allocated to this older child at 
an alternative school. If the parent then wishes to apply for this alternative school by 
the published closing date for their younger child (and the older child will still be 
attending at the date of admission of the younger child) then the applicant must notify 
The School Admissions Team on their application for that younger child that they 
consider this criterion applies and ensure all relevant information is supplied. This 
information will be assessed as published in the procedure for dealing with social or 
medical applications. 
 
If a parent moves house or chooses not to accept the offer of a place at their 
designated area school then this information will have been recorded by The School 
Admissions Team at the time and will used in the decision making process as to 
whether a younger child will be accepted as fulfilling this criterion.  
 
Late applications that could have been made by the closing date will not be assessed 
as fulfilling this criterion. 
 
 

 Appeals 
 
If parents have been refused a place at one or more of their preferences they will be 
informed of their right of appeal.  All appeals for Bracknell Forest schools must be 
submitted by 17 May 2017. Admissions authorities will then endeavour to hear all 
appeals submitted by this date within 40 school days.  
 

 Waiting lists  
 



 

 31 

The LA will maintain waiting lists for all Bracknell Forest over subscribed schools.  
Applicants not offered a place at a higher preference school than that which has 
been offered will automatically be placed on a waiting list for a school that is within 
Bracknell. Parents should be aware that their child’s name can go up or down the 
waiting list according to the priority of new additions to the list, for example someone 
moving into the area is placed on the appropriate place on the waiting list. Waiting 
lists must be maintained in criteria order at all time. The LA will maintain the waiting 
lists for all Bracknell Forest schools for the school year for which they have applied. 
At the end of the school year the waiting list will end and parents will need to reapply 
for a place for the following year. Waiting lists will be re-ordered at the end of the 
academic year 2016/17 as the infant to junior feeder criterion will no longer be a valid 
criterion at this stage. If a child has left the infant school the feeder infant school 
criteria will not be valid. 
 

 Changes of preference 
 
Parents who wish to amend their paper application before the closing date will be 
allowed to do so as long as they put their request in writing to the Admissions Team 
by the closing date. Online applications can be amended up until the closing date. 
 
Changes of preference after the closing date of 16 January 2017 will only be allowed 
after 17 April 2017 in writing to the School Admissions Team and will be processed in 
the second round. 
 
 

 Admission of children outside their normal age group 
 

Parents of gifted and talented children, or those who have experienced problems or 
missed part of a year, for example due to ill health, can seek places outside their 
normal age group. Where the parents of a summer born child chooses not to send 
that child to school until the September following their fifth birthday, they may request 
that they are admitted out of their normal age group – to reception rather than year 1. 
If an application is received for a child outside of their normal year group the relevant 
admission authority must make a decision of the basis of the circumstances of each 
case and the parent will be informed of their right of appeal. This right does not apply 
if they are offered a place in another year group at the school. 

 
Where a parent contacts the School Admissions Team with a request for their child to 
be admitted into a different year group than the relevant one according to their date 
of birth then the following will apply: 

 
The parent will be required to put all information in writing to the School Admissions 
Team. It is for the parent to ensure that they have submitted all relevant 
documentation as no further request will be made to the parent. The paperwork must 
be submitted before the published closing date for their child’s date of birth. 
 
If the application is for a school where Bracknell Forest is the admission authority 
The paper work will be forwarded to the Principal Educational Psychologist who will 
advise the admission authority. This advice will then be discussed with the 
Headteacher of the relevant school(s) and a final decision will be made. 
 
If the application is for a school that is their own admission authority (eg voluntary 
aided school, academies etc) then the request and the supporting documents will be 
forwarded to the Governors of that school for their decision regarding the request. 
 



 

 32 

The decision from all relevant admission authorities will be sent to the parent from 
the local authority and this decision is final. 
 

 DEFINITIONS 
 

Parent 
Parent is defined under S576 of the Education Act 1996 as: 

 all natural parents, whether they are married or not    

 any person who, although not a natural parent, has parental responsibility for 
a child or young person    

 any person who, although not a natural parent,  has care of a child or young 
person (having care of a child or young person means that a person with 
whom the child lives and who looks after the child, irrespective of what their 
relationship is with the child, is considered to be a parent in education law). 

 
 
Sibling  
Refers to a brother or sister, half brother or sister, adopted brother or sister, step 
brother or sister, or the child of the parent/carer’s partner where the child for whom 
the school place is sought is living in the same family unit at the same address as 
that sibling. 
 
Designated areas/catchment areas  
Maps showing the designated area of a school are available to view on the Bracknell 
Forest Council’s website, at the school in question, at the main Bracknell library or at 
a council office on request. 
Parents can also find their designated area school on the Bracknell Forest Council’s 
website via ‘findmynearest’ and entering their road name or postcode. 
 
 
 
ADMISSIONS TO JUNIOR SCHOOL 
 
All information in the admission to primary and/or infant school above also 
relates to junior applications other than the oversubscription criteria. 
 
Information regarding the scheme and the admissions arrangements will be 
published in the LA’s composite prospectus. This is entitled A Parent’s Guide to 
Junior School Admissions in Bracknell Forest for children starting at a junior school in 
the school year 1 September 2017 to 31 August 2018 for children born on or 
between 1 September 2009 and 31 August 2010. This guide will be available from 
12th September prior to the admissions year. 
 
Any parents wishing to apply for a place at a junior school, will do so at the same 
time as for first admission for school, ie. by 16 January 2017 for entry in September 
2017.  The LA will issue all offers and refusals.  Parents will be offered the right of 
appeal if necessary.  
 
 

 OVERSUBSCRIPTION CRITERIA 
 
In circumstances where more applications than places are received for Bracknell 
Forest maintained junior schools the following criteria will be used. 



 

 33 

 
o Oversubscription Criteria for community junior schools 

 
The LA is the admission authority for community junior schools and the following 
criteria apply to these Bracknell Forest community junior schools: 
 

Holly Spring Junior 

College Town Junior 

 
Children with a Statement of Special Educational Needs or an Education Health & 
Care Plan that names a specific school must, by law, be admitted to that school.  
After this requirement has been satisfied the following rules will apply: 
 
(A) Looked After Children13 and all previously looked after children. Previously 

looked after children are children who were looked after, but ceased to be so 
because they were adopted14 (or became subject to a child arrangements 
order15 or special guardianship order16) immediately following having been 
looked after. 

 
(B) Children who have either medical or social grounds for admission to a 

particular school. This evidence must set out the particular reason why the 
school in question is the only suitable school and the difficulties caused if the 
child had to attend another school.  The LA’s decision in these matters is 
final. 

 
(C) Children who live in the designated area of the school. 

 
(D) Children who have siblings, brother(s) or sister(s), at the school, and who will 

still be attending the school at the time of the child’s admission.  
 
(E) Children who are attending the infant school with close links to the paired 

junior school. If this criterion is used then the relevant pairs of Junior and 
Infant Schools are Holly Spring Junior School and Holly Spring Infant School 
and College Town Junior School and College Town Infant School.   

 
 
In some cases a tie-breaker will be required. If a school does not have places for all 
the children in one of the above criteria, priority will be given to children who fulfil a 
combination of higher admission criteria.  The combination of criteria (categories) will 
follow the same order of priority as the basic list of criteria.  (eg. an applicant who 
fulfils designated area and sibling will take precedence over one who fulfils 
designated area only. 
 
After this, if there are still insufficient places, and no distinction can be made between 
the applicants or if they do not fulfil any of the above criteria, a final decision will be 
made on the radial distance (straight line distance on a map) between the home and 

                                                
13 A 'looked after child' is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being provided with accommodation by a local 

authority in the exercise of their social services functions (see the definition in Section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989) at the 
time of making an application to a school.   

14 This includes children who were adopted under the Adoption Act 1976 (see section 12 adoption orders) and children who 
were adopted under the Adoption and Children’s Act 2002 (see section 46 adoption orders). 

15 Child arrangements orders are defined in s.8 of the Children Act 1989, as amended by s.12 of the Children and Families Act 
2014. Child arrangements orders replace residence orders and any residence order in force prior to 22 April 2014 is deemed 
to be a child arrangements order. 

16 See Section 14A of the Children Act 1989 which defines a ‘special guardianship order’ as an order 
appointing one or more individuals to be a child’s special guardian (or special guardians).   



 

 34 

the school. Those living nearer to the school will be placed higher than those living 
further away.  Radial distance will be based on the co-ordinates for the property and 
the school as defined in the Local Land and Property Gazetteer and based on the 
Ordnance Survey’s national system. 
 
Distances are measured using direct distance calculations within a computer system. 
The measurement of each distance has been calculated using Pythagoras’ Theorem. 
The way in which this is done is to calculate the distance in metres between the 
Easting and Northing co-ordinates for each location. The measurement in metres is 
then multiplied by 0.000621317 to convert this measurement to miles.  The same 
method of calculation is used for each direct distance measured. 

 
If in the event that two or more children live at the same distance from school (for 
example for families living in flats) and there are fewer places available then random 
allocation will be used to decide which child will be allocated the remaining place(s). 
The process will be drawn and scrutinised by people who are independent of the 
Council. 
 
Where demand exists, schools admit up to their admission number and no places are 
reserved for pupils moving into their designated area. 

 
o Oversubscription criteria for voluntary controlled junior schools 

 

The LA is the admission authority for this school and the following criteria apply to 

this junior school: 

 

Ascot Heath Junior 

 

If the number of requests for places is equal to or less than the number of places 

available, then all applicants could be offered a place at that school. 

 
Children with a Statement of Special Educational Needs or Education Health & Care 
Plan that names a specific school must, by law, be admitted to that school.  
After this requirement has been satisfied the following rules will apply: 
 
(A) Looked After Children17 and all previously looked after children. Previously 

looked after children are children who were looked after, but ceased to be so 
because they were adopted18 (or became subject to a child arrangements 
order19 or special guardianship order20) immediately following having been 
looked after. 

 
(B) Children who have either medical or social grounds for admission to a 

particular school. This evidence must set out the particular reason why the 
school in question is the only suitable school and the difficulties caused if the 

                                                
17 A 'looked after child' is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being provided with accommodation by a local 

authority in the exercise of their social services functions (see the definition in Section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989) at the 
time of making an application to a school.   

18 This includes children who were adopted under the Adoption Act 1976 (see section 12 adoption orders) and children who 
were adopted under the Adoption and Children’s Act 2002 (see section 46 adoption orders). 

19 Child arrangements orders are defined in s.8 of the Children Act 1989, as amended by s.12 of the Children and Families Act 
2014. Child arrangements orders replace residence orders and any residence order in force prior to 22 April 2014 is deemed 
to be a child arrangements order. 

20 See Section 14A of the Children Act 1989 which defines a ‘special guardianship order’ as an order 
appointing one or more individuals to be a child’s special guardian (or special guardians).   



 

 35 

child had to attend another school.  The LA’s decision in these matters is 
final. 

 
C) Children who live in the designated area of the school. 

 
(D) Children who have siblings, brother(s) or sister(s), at the school, and who will 

still be attending the school at the time of the child’s admission.  
 
(E) Children whose parents choose the school on denominational grounds. 
 
(F) Children who have attended the infant school with close links to the paired 

junior school. If this criterion is used then the relevant pairs of Infant and 
Junior Schools are Ascot Heath Infant School and Ascot Heath Junior 
Schools. 

 
In some cases a tie-breaker will be required.  If a school does not have places for all 
the children in one of the above criteria, priority will be given to children who fulfil a 
combination of higher admission criteria.  The combination of criteria (categories) will 
follow the same order of priority as the basic list of criteria.  (eg. an applicant who 
fulfils designated area and sibling will take precedence over one who fulfils 
designated area only). 
 
After this, if there are still insufficient places, and no distinction can be made between 
the applicants or if they do not fulfil any of the above criteria, a final decision will be 
made on the radial distance (straight line distance on a map) between the home and 
the school. Those living nearer to the school will be placed higher than those living 
further away.  Radial distance will be based on the co-ordinates for the property and 
the school as defined in the Local Land and Property Gazetteer and based on the 
Ordnance Survey’s national system. 
 
Distances are measured using direct distance calculations within a computer system. 
The measurement of each distance has been calculated using Pythagoras’ Theorem. 
The way in which this is done is to calculate the distance in metres between the 
Easting and Northing co-ordinates for each location. The measurement in metres is 
then multiplied by 0.000621317 to convert this measurement to miles.  The same 
method of calculation is used for each direct distance measured. 
 
If in the event that two or more children live at the same distance from school (for 
example for families living in flats) and there are fewer places available then random 
allocation will be used to decide which child will be allocated the remaining place(s). 
The process will be drawn and scrutinised by people who are independent of the 
Council. 
 
Pupils do not just have to be in an infant school to be able to apply for a place at a 
junior school.  However, the LA would not encourage parents to move a child who 
was already settled, out of a primary school into a junior school, unless they had a 
very good reason. 
 
Junior waiting lists will be re-ordered at the end of the school year 2016/17 as the 
infant to junior feeder criteria will no longer be a valid criteria. 
 
If a child has left the infant school the feeder infant school criteria will not be 
valid. 
  



 

 36 

TIMETABLE FOR THE PRIMARY AND JUNIOR CO-ORDINATED ADMISSIONS 
SCHEME 
2017/18 

 

Date  Action 

  

By 12th September 
2016 

Composite prospectus for Bracknell Forest primary and junior 
transfers to be published on the council’s website   

  

Oct half term 2016 Application information posted to parents who have registered 

  

1 November 2016 Online application site open  

  

16 January 2017 Closing date for paper applications  

  

midday on  
16 January 2017 

Closing date for online applications 

  

5 February 2017 Information exchange with neighbouring authorities completed  

  

By 12 February 
2017 

SEN Team to inform parents of statemented pupils of their 
allocated school 

  

By 3 February 
2017 

Latest date for accepting applications for those moving into the 
area 

  

By  8 February 
2017 

Transfer of information to Bracknell Forest own admission 
authority schools 

  

24 February 2017 Closing date for receipt of Supplementary Information Forms by 
own admission authority schools where applicable 

  

By 3 March 2017 Own admission authority schools to advise the local authority of 
their ranked list 

  

28 February 2017 Appeal timetable to be published on council’s website. Own 
admission authorities to publish their own 

  

By 1 April 2017 Final co-ordination with other local authorities 

  

12 April 2017 Advise schools of indicative numbers 

  

17 April 2017 Offer emails sent. Offer letters sent 

  

By 2 May 2017 Deadline for parents to accept offers.  
Second round begins 

  

By 17 May 2017 Appeals should be submitted by this date to be heard together. 

  

Summer Term 
2017 

Local authority to advise schools of final allocation details 
Schools to send out registration forms. 
Appeals to be heard 

 



 

 37 

 
 
 
 

PUBLISHED ADMISSIONS NUMBERS FOR 2017/18 
 

School 2017/18 
PAN 

Primary Schools:  

Ascot Heath CE Junior  60 

Ascot Heath Infant  70 

Birch Hill Primary 60 

College Town Infant 90 

College Town Junior 90 

Cranbourne Primary  30 

Crown Wood Primary 90 

Crowthorne CE Primary 30 

Fox Hill Primary 30 

Great Hollands Primary 60* 

Harmans Water Primary 90 

Holly Spring Infant  90 

Holly Spring Junior  90 

Meadow Vale Primary School 90 

New Scotland Hill Primary  30 

Owlsmoor Primary 90 

Pines Primary 60 

Sandy Lane Primary  90 

Uplands Primary 30 

Warfield CE Primary  60 

Whitegrove Primary  60 

Wildmoor Heath Primary 30 

Wildridings Primary 60 

Winkfield St Mary’s CE Primary  30 

Wooden Hill Primary 50 

 
* May be increased subject to building work being completed 
 
  



 

 38 

Annex 5 
 

School Admissions Arrangements 
2017/18 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Coordinated Scheme for Admission to 
Secondary Schools, incorporating the 

admission policy for community schools  
For entry to schools in 2017-2018  

 
 

 



 

 

 
CO-ORDINATED ADMISSIONS SCHEME FOR SECONDARY ADMISSIONS 

2017/2018 
 
BACKGROUND  
 
Legislation requires Local Authorities (LA) to draw up a statutory scheme for co-
ordinating admission arrangements for all maintained schools in its area (excluding 
special schools, but including aided schools and academies).    
 
The purpose of a co-ordinated scheme is to ensure that every parent of a child living 
in Bracknell Forest area who has applied for a place in the normal admissions round 
receives an offer of only one place on the same day.  Any scheme should also aim to 
ensure that parents are treated fairly and consistently regardless of the status of the 
school for which they make an application. 
 
When drawing up admissions arrangements, admissions authorities must ensure 
that the practices and the criteria used to decide the allocation of school places are 
clear, fair and objective, for the benefit of all children, including those with special 
educational needs, disabilities or in the care of a LA including those children who 
were previously in care. Bracknell Forest Local Authority’s admissions criteria for its 
maintained schools reflect these requirements.  Admissions arrangements should 
also enable parents’ preferences for schools to be met to the maximum extent 
possible.   
  
MAIN DETAILS OF THE CO-ORDINATED SCHEME 
 

 Equal preferences 
 
The DfE (Department for Education) states that a co-ordinated scheme is based on 
equal preferences.   In other words all preferences are treated as equal initially.  If 
more than one place can be offered, the single offer will be for the school the 
parent/carer has ranked highest.  If a place cannot be offered at any of the 
preference schools, then a place will be offered at the next nearest school with 
available spaces. 
 
This system allows each preference that parents/carers give to be considered 
separately.  If a child could be allocated a place at two or more of its preference 
schools, then the parents’ ranking will be used as a tie breaker.   
 
The scheme will not affect the duty of the Governors of Aided Schools or Academies 
to set and apply their own admissions arrangements.  These schools will continue to 
be able to operate their own over subscription criteria and these must be clear, fair 
and objective and they must comply with the School Admissions Code. 
 

 Information for parents 
 
Information regarding the scheme and the admissions arrangements will be 
published in the LA’s composite prospectus. This is entitled A Parent’s Guide to 
Secondary School Admissions in Bracknell Forest for children starting at a secondary 
school in the school year 1 September 2017 to 31 August 2018 for children born on 
or between 1 September 2005 and 31 August 2006. This guide will be available on 
the Bracknell Forest Council’s website from 12th September prior to the admissions 
year and hard copies will be available for those who do not have access to the 
internet. 



 

 40 

 
 
 

 Making an Application 
  

Bracknell Forest residents can apply for a place for secondary school either on line or 
using a Common Application Form.  It must also be used if residents wish to apply for 
a school outside the Borough.  All applications will be recorded by the home LA and 
then sent to the maintaining LA for each of the preference schools in accordance with 
the co-ordinated scheme’s timetable.    
 
 
If Non Bracknell Forest residents wish to apply for a Bracknell Forest school they 
should use their home LA form or internet access site of their home LA to apply. That 
request will then be transferred electronically by that Local Authority to Bracknell 
Forest by the date in the scheme. 

 
o Common Application Form 

 
All applicants living in Bracknell Forest can use the LA’s Common Application Form 
(CAF). These forms will be available to the parents of those Bracknell Forest pupils in 
Bracknell Forest schools.  Arrangements will also be made to ensure that parents of 
Bracknell Forest pupils in neighbouring LA’s schools will also receive information on 
how to apply.  Parents of pupils in Bracknell Forest schools who are not Bracknell 
Forest residents will receive secondary information from their home local authority.  
 
The form will allow parents to name three schools and parents are encouraged to do 
this.  Parents will be asked to rank their preferences.  It will also allow them to give 
reasons for each preference, referring these to the admissions criteria. 
  
Any Supplementary Information Forms issued by an Aided School or an academy 
can either be returned to the school or to Bracknell Forest School Admissions Team. 
These forms are available on the Bracknell Forest Council’s website, the school 
website or on request from the School Admissions Team. 
 
Applications made on the Bracknell Forest Common Application Form for children 
within a Bracknell Forest primary school may be returned to the child’s current 
Bracknell Forest primary school by 31 October 2016.  The primary school will forward 
the form on to the LA’s Admissions Team. 
 
Bracknell Forest parents whose child attends a school in another LA and who wish to 
submit a paper application, can return their form either to their child’s current school 
or directly to the Bracknell Forest Admissions Team by 31 October 2016. Bracknell 
Forest parents whose child attends an independent school will need to send their 
application form directly to Bracknell Forest’s Admissions Team by 31 October 2016 
or apply on line. 
 
If applicants wish for one or more of their preferences to be considered under the 
designated area criteria then they will have to send in a copy of their current council 
tax statement with their application in order to prove their residency. If an applicant 
does not have a copy of their council tax statement then they should contact their 
council tax office to obtain a copy. Service families should refer to the General 
Information section below. Service families should refer to the General Information 
section below. 
 



 

 41 

 
o On Line Applications 

 
Parents can also complete an on-line application. Parents will be able to apply for a 
secondary school place on line via the Council’s website.  The site will be open for 
applications from 12 September to midday on 31 October 2016. On line applications 
have to be submitted by midday 31 October 2016.   
 
If applicants wish for one or more of their preferences to be considered under the 
designated area criteria then they will have to send in a copy of their current council 
tax statement with their application in order to prove their residency. Service families 
should refer to the General Information section below. 
 
If Non Bracknell Forest residents wish to apply for a Bracknell Forest school they 
should use their home LA form or internet access site of their home LA to apply. That 
request will then be transferred electronically by that Local Authority to Bracknell 
Forest by the date in the scheme. 
  
 

 Applications for Aided Schools or Academies 
 
 
Aided Schools or Academies can prepare a Supplementary Information Form (SIF) to 
be completed with the on line application/common application form if they require 
further information in order for them to allocate places at their school against their 
admissions criteria.  Governing Bodies of VA schools and academies and the Local 
Authority will make the SIF available to parents/carers both in hard copy and as a 
document on their school website.  The forms will be available from and can be 
returned to either the individual schools or the Local Authority. 
  
The LA will process all the applications for the Aided schools and academies and 
then transfer the information electronically to schools. On Line applicants who name 
a school that may require the completion of a SIF will be prompted by the system to 
complete and return the form in addition to their on line application if necessary. 
 
The Governing Bodies of Aided schools and academies will need to meet within the 
timescales defined in the scheme in order to advise the LA of their ranking of their 
applications.  The LA will require the Governors to produce a brief statement which 
will explain to applicants (and future appellants) how and why places have been 
ranked.  The LA will make this statement available on their website. Hard copies can 
be request for those who do not have access to the internet.  
 

 Applications made after the closing date of 31 October 2016 
 

o Late Application  
 
Where it can reasonably be assumed that an application could have been made by 
the closing date of 31 October 2016 the application will be processed by the School 
Admissions Team in the second round which begins on 15 March 2017.  
 

o Moving into Bracknell Forest 
 
Where it can reasonably be assumed that an application could not have been made 
by the closing date of 31 October 2016 (for example if they have just moved into 
Bracknell Forest) but the application form is submitted before 31 December 2016 the 



 

 42 

application will be considered on time. However evidence to support the reason for 
the late application will be required by the Local Authority. If the application is 
received on or after 31 December 2016 it will be processed in the second round 
which begins on 15 March 2017. 
 
 

 Moving within Bracknell Forest 
 

If parents move house within Bracknell Forest after the closing date of 31 October 
2016 and before 31 December 2016 they must contact the Local Authority to discuss 
any changes they may be able to make to their preferences. They will be 
accommodated if at all possible. If parents move house after 31 December 2016 the 
request will be processed in the second round which begins on 15 March 2017.   
 
 
OVERSUBSCRIPTION CRITIERIA  
 
Within Bracknell Forest there are 6 secondary schools. Of these, one is an academy 
and sets its own admission criteria. The remaining 5 are community schools and the 
LA sets the admission criteria for these schools. The criteria for all of these schools 
can be found in the ‘Guide to Secondary Admissions within Bracknell Forest’, on the 
Bracknell Forest Council’s website or from the school. However to make an 
application for any school (including schools outside of Bracknell Forest) they must 
be listed as a preference.  
 
In circumstances where more applications than places are received for Bracknell 
Forest maintained schools the following criteria will be used. 
 

 Oversubscription Criteria Bracknell Forest community schools: 
 
Bracknell Forest is the admission authority for community schools and sets the 
oversubscription criteria. 
 
 The following criteria apply to these five Bracknell Forest community schools: 
 

Easthampstead Park School 

Edgbarrow School 

Garth Hill College 

Sandhurst School 

The Brakenhale School 

 
Children with a Statement of Special Educational Needs or an Education Health & 
Care Plan that names a specific school must, by law, be admitted to that school.  
After this requirement has been satisfied the following rules will apply: 
 
(A) Looked After Children21 and all previously looked after children. Previously 

looked after children are children who were looked after, but ceased to be so 
because they were adopted22 (or became subject to a child arrangements 

                                                
21 A 'looked after child' is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being provided with accommodation by a local 

authority in the exercise of their social services functions (see the definition in Section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989) at the 
time of making an application to a school.   

22 This includes children who were adopted under the Adoption Act 1976 (see section 12 adoption orders) and children who 
were adopted under the Adoption and Children’s Act 2002 (see section 46 adoption orders). 



 

 43 

order23 or special guardianship order24) immediately following having been 
looked after. 

 
(B) Children who have either medical or social grounds for admission to a 

particular school. This evidence must set out the particular reason why the 
school in question is the only suitable school and the difficulties caused if the 
child had to attend another school.  The LA’s decision in these matters is 
final. 

 
C) Children who live in the designated area of the school. 
 
(D) Children who have brother(s) or sister(s) at the school, and who will still be 

attending school at the time of the applicant’s admission. This will be checked 
as necessary before an offer is made. These siblings include children living 
as siblings in the same family unit and at the same address as the child and 
for whom the applicant has parental responsibility.  

 
Children must be living in the designated area at the closing date of 31 October 2016 
to be considered under these criteria. 
 
In some cases a tie-breaker will be required.  If a school does not have places for all 
the children in one of the above criteria, priority will be given to children who fulfil a 
combination of higher admission criteria.  The combination of criteria will follow the 
same order of priority as the basic list of criteria.  (eg. an applicant who fulfils 
designated area and sibling will take precedence over one who fulfils just designated 
area. 
 
After this, if there are still insufficient places, and no distinction can be made between 
the applicants or if they do not fulfil any of the above criteria, a final decision will be 
made on the radial distance (straight line distance on a map) between the home and 
the school. Those living nearer to the school will be placed higher than those living 
further away.  Radial distance will be based on the co-ordinates for the property and 
the school as defined in the Local Land and Property Gazetteer and based on the 
Ordnance Survey’s national system. 
 
Distances are measured using direct distance calculations within a computer system. 
The measurement of each distance has been calculated using Pythagoras’ Theorem. 
The way in which this is done is to calculate the distance in metres between the 
Easting and Northing co-ordinates for each location. The measurement in metres is 
then multiplied by 0.000621318 to convert this measurement to miles.  The same 
method of calculation is used for each direct distance measured. 
 
If in the event that two or more children live at the same distance from school (for 
example for families living in flats) and there are fewer places available then random 
allocation will be used to decide which child will be allocated the remaining place(s). 
The process will be drawn and scrutinised by people who are independent of the 
Council. 
  

                                                
23 Child arrangements orders are defined in s.8 of the Children Act 1989, as amended by s.12 of the Children and Families Act 

2014. Child arrangements orders replace residence orders and any residence order in force prior to 22 April 2014 is deemed 
to be a child arrangements order. 

24 See Section 14A of the Children Act 1989 which defines a ‘special guardianship order’ as an order 
appointing one or more individuals to be a child’s special guardian (or special guardians).   



 

 44 

As soon as all applications have been received, including those submitted on line 
and from outside Bracknell Forest, the LA will consider all applications equally for its 
maintained schools and apply the admissions arrangements as published.    
 
Faith-based school with a religious character 

 

A faith-based school with a religious character is required to offer every child who 

applies, whether of the faith, another faith, or no faith, a place at the school if there is 

a place available.  However, faith-based schools are popular and often over 

subscribed.  Such schools are permitted to use faith-based oversubscription criteria 

and allocate places by reference to faith where the school is oversubscribed. 
 
 

o Academies 
 
Within Bracknell Forest there is one academy secondary school. Own admission 
authority schools can prepare a Supplementary information Form (SIF) to be 
completed if they require further information in order for them to allocate places at 
their school against their admissions criteria. The form can be found on either the 
schools website, the council’s website or from the school direct and can be returned 
to either the school or the LA by the required deadline to be considered as part of the 
application. 
 
The academy within Bracknell Forest is as follows: 
 

Ranelagh Church of England Academy School 

 
 

THE ALLOCATION PROCESS 
 

As soon as all applications have been received, including those submitted on line 
and from outside Bracknell Forest, the LA will consider all applications equally for its 
maintained schools and apply the admissions arrangements as published.    

  
Offers will be sent to parents by their home LA on 1 March 2017.  The home LA will 
advise all parents of the result of their application.  If they have been refused a place 
at one of their preference schools they will be informed of the reasons for refusal and 
the details of how to make an appeal. Parents will be required to accept their offer of 
a place by 15 March 2017. Failure to do this could result in the offer being withdrawn. 
Parents will also be required to send a copy of their child’s birth certificate at this time 
to the School Admissions Team. 
 
The Governors of an aided school or an academy will make their decisions based on 
the information received from applicants on the common application form or on line 
and the SIF where necessary.   
 
The Governors will rank all the applications for their school and advise the LA at the 
beginning of the spring term 2017 of the results.  Their ranked list will include all on 
time applications.  The Governors will provide a statement explaining how places 
have been ranked and (where appropriate) the reasons why all the preferences have 
not been met.  This statement will be published by the home LA on 1 March 2017 on 
their website. Hard copies will also be available.  
 



 

 45 

On behalf of the Governors of the Aided school or academy the home LA will advise 
all applicants of the results of their application.  The home LA will advise those 
applicants who are refused a place of their right of appeal and of the arrangements in 
place for making an appeal. 
 
If the LA cannot offer a place at any of the preferred schools then an offer will be 
made to the parent for a place for their child at the next nearest school to the home 
address of the family, this may not necessarily be their designated area school and it 
may be some distance from their home address.  
 

 The allocation process – non Bracknell Forest schools 
 
Parents who have applied for schools outside Bracknell Forest will be sent the results 
of their application by their home LA on 1 March 2017.In order to do this the 
maintaining LA will inform the home LA whether they are able to allocate a place at 
any of the preferred schools by the middle of January 2017.   The home LA will then 
consider all the preferences and possible offers.  The home LA will offer a place at 
the school that was ranked the highest by the parent/carer.   
 
If the home LA cannot offer a place at any of the preferred schools then an offer will 
be made to the parent for a place for their child at the next nearest school to the 
home address of the family, this may not necessarily be their designated area school 
and it may be some distance from their home address.  
  
All non Bracknell Forest admissions authorities will be expected to provide the home 
LA with a detailed statement explaining how places have been allocated and (where 
appropriate) the reasons why all the preferences have not been met in order to 
inform the applicant where necessary.   
 

 The Allocation Process - Pupils with Statements of Special Educational 
Needs  

 
Admission of SEN pupils to school will be managed by the Special Needs Team In 
accordance with the Code of Practice for Pupils with Special Educational Needs. The 
parents will be informed of their child’s allocated secondary school by 14 February 
2017 by the SEN Team. 
 
GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

  Multiple Births 
 
Where the LA has received applications for twins or other multiple births and when 
one of the siblings is the last child to be admitted the other sibling(s) may be admitted 
as an exception. 
 

 Child arrangements order (previously shared residence orders) 
 
It is increasingly common that parents are agreeing, and courts are endorsing, child 
arrangements orders (previously called shared residence orders) under Section 8 of 
The Children Act 1989.  Further advice on this matter can be obtained from the 
School Admissions Team. Any details regarding shared residency, or the child’s 
living arrangements, must be submitted at the time of application.  It is the parents’ 
responsibility to provide this information. As a general rule shared residence is based 
(for admissions purposes) on the number of school nights a child spends at the 



 

 46 

home. The School Admissions Team may take legal advice on these matters as they 
relate to a specific case. A main address will need to be used to process the 
application. If the second parent/carer’s address is different from the first they will not 
receive any information/letters unless this is requested.  
 

 Home address 
 
The address where the child lives at the closing date of 31 October 2016 will be used 
to process the application. It is for the applicant to satisfy the Admissions Authority 
that they live at the address that they state.  If fraud is suspected then further proof 
may be requested.  If fraud is established then any offer of a school place will be 
withdrawn. If a parent/carer owns a property within the Borough which they do not 
occupy and/or rent out and then move into another property within, or nearer to the 
designated area of the preferred school the address of the property they own will be 
the address for determining their designated area, unless the owned house has been 
rented out for 12 months prior to the closing date for the return of the Common 
Application Form. 
 
If an applicant already own a property within the borough which is in the process of 
being sold Bracknell Forest is able to accept the address of the new property on 
submission of the appropriate evidence in support eg exchange of contracts letter. 
The address must be a permanent address, temporary addresses are not 
acceptable. If applicants are in the process of moving house within Bracknell Forest 
they should contact School Admissions Team for further advice.  
 

 Protected Sibling Status 
 
Parents of children attending a school that was their designated area school at the 
time of processing the application but where the designated area has changed will 
have a protection for any younger siblings for the next six years. The younger 
sibling’s application will be processed as living in the designated area of the same 
school as the older sibling is attending even though the designated area has 
changed. 
 
It is the parent’s responsibility to inform the School Admissions Team on their 
application that that they fulfil this criterion. This information will then be verified by 
the School Admissions Team. Parents must enclose a copy of their current council 
tax notice. 
 
The child must still be living at the address within the original designated area from 
where the parents applied for the older sibling. If a child’s address has changed then 
this criterion will not be applied. 
 
The older sibling must also still be attending the school where the protected sibling 
status is being requested. 
 
Note that in all cases the normal admission process will be followed and there will be 
no guarantee of a place at the school. 
 

 Applicants from abroad  
 

If families are moving (for the first time) into the Bracknell Forest area from abroad, 
then they (including the child) must be resident in Bracknell Forest before an 
application for a school place can be accepted.  Proof of residency within Bracknell 



 

 47 

Forest will be required.  If they are living abroad and returning to a property that they 
own, in the local area, then they will need to produce written proof confirming the 
details and timing of the relocation. Further advice on the documentation required 
can be obtained from the School Admissions Team.  
 

 Service Families 
 
Families of UK service personnel with a confirmed posting to the Bracknell Forest 
area (or Crown Servants returning from overseas to live in Bracknell Forest) will be 
able to make an application for a school place if it is accompanied by an official letter 
from the relevant service declaring a relocation date and a Unit postal address or 
quartering address. 
 
For those who already live in Bracknell Forest or are moving to live in Bracknell 
Forest a formal letter from their chain of command verifying their address would be 
accepted if they wish their application to be considered under the designated area 
criteria. 
 

 Looked After and Previously Looked After Children 
 
Criteria A includes Looked After Children25 and all previously looked after children. 
Previously looked after children are children who were looked after, but ceased to be 
so because they were adopted26 (or became subject to a child arrangements order27 
or special guardianship order28) immediately following having been looked after. 
 
If a parent or LA (where relevant) wishes to apply under this criterion it is their 
responsibility to ensure that all relevant paper work is submitted with the application, 
for example of a copy of the relevant order issued by the family court. Should a 
parent not submit any relevant documentation with their application it will be 
assumed that the parent does not wish these circumstances to be taken in to 
account. 
 

 Social Grounds or Medical Need (category B) 
 
If a child or the parent/ carer of that child has a medical condition, that is a serious 
chronic health condition, or a social need that would cause significant hardship or risk 
if the child could not attend the preferred school.  
 
All schools have the resources to work with special educational needs and common 
childhood complaints such as asthma.  
 
If it is indicated on the Common Application Form that somebody wants their 
application to be considered on either social or medical need it is their responsibility 
to obtain a form which must be completed and returned to the School Admissions 
Team along with supporting written evidence from a professional by the relevant 
closing date.  The supporting evidence should be from the relevant registered 

                                                
25 A 'looked after child' is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being provided with accommodation by a local 

authority in the exercise of their social services functions (see the definition in Section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989) at the 
time of making an application to a school.   

26 This includes children who were adopted under the Adoption Act 1976 (see section 12 adoption orders) and children who 
were adopted under the Adoption and Children’s Act 2002 (see section 46 adoption orders). 

27 Child arrangements orders are defined in s.8 of the Children Act 1989, as amended by s.12 of the Children and Families Act 
2014. Child arrangements orders replace residence orders and any residence order in force prior to 22 April 2014 is deemed 
to be a child arrangements order. 

28 See Section 14A of the Children Act 1989 which defines a ‘special guardianship order’ as an order 
appointing one or more individuals to be a child’s special guardian (or special guardians).   



 

 48 

professional(s) involved with the child or family. Examples include registered health 
professionals, such as Consultant, GP, Psychologist, Psychiatrist; or registered 
social care professionals such as a Social Worker / Care Manager.  Please note, 
evidence from childminders will not normally be accepted as sufficient evidence. All 
evidence must be on letter headed paper. 
 
This evidence must set out the particular reasons why the school in question is the 
only suitable school and the difficulties caused if the child had to attend another 
school. This evidence must be specific to the school in question; it must show why 
only that school is the most suitable; what facilities will benefit the child, and why no 
other school can offer the same support. Where relevant this school must be the 
most appropriate for the family circumstances. However it will not be possible to 
consider an application under this criterion if no supporting evidence is supplied. The 
Local Authority will not contact professionals involved with the family as it is for the 
applicant to supply this information when submitting the social/medical form. The LA 
reserves the right to ask parents to supply further evidence or clarification where the 
LA considers necessary. It is important that applicants seeking to rely on these 
grounds provide the fullest supporting evidence they can by the closing date. It is the 
parent’s responsibility to produce this evidence.  Where further evidence is required it 
will need to be supplied by the closing date so that the decision can be made 
alongside all other applications for places at the particular school. Evidence 
submitted after the closing date will not be considered.  Only in exceptional 
circumstances the LA may apply it’s discretion to consider evidence submitted after 
the closing date.  It is therefore very important to submit all relevant evidence 
together with the application to avoid possible delay.  But in any event all the relevant 
evidence must be submitted by the closing date to ensure full and proper 
consideration. 
 

 Appeals  
 
If parents have been refused a place at one or more of their preferences they will be 
informed of their right of appeal.  All appeals for Bracknell Forest schools must be 
submitted by 15 April 2017.  Admissions authorities will then endeavour to hear all 
appeals submitted by this date within 40 school days.   
 

 Waiting lists 
 
Applicants not offered a place at one of their higher preference school than that 
offered are placed on a waiting list.  The waiting list will be constructed using the 
same order of priorities as set out in the admissions criteria.  Parents should be 
aware that their child’s name can go up or down the waiting list according to the 
priority of new additions to the list, for example someone moving into the area is 
placed on the appropriate place on the waiting list. The LA will maintain the waiting 
lists for all Bracknell Forest maintained schools for the school year for which they 
have applied. At the end of the school year the waiting list will end and parents will 
need to reapply for a place for the following year.  
 
The LA will maintain the waiting list for Ranelagh Church of England Academy 
School until 1 September 2017 when Ranelagh will maintain their own.   
 
 
 
  



 

 49 

 Changes of preference 
 
Parents who wish to amend their paper application before the closing date will be 
allowed to do so as long as they put their request in writing to the Admissions Team 
by the closing date. Online applicants can amend their application online until the 
closing date. 
 
Changes of preference after the closing date (31 October 2016) will only be allowed 
after 1 March 2017 in writing to the School Admissions Team and will be processed 
in the second round. 
 

 Admission of children outside their normal age group 
 

Parents of gifted and talented children, or those who have experienced problems or 
missed part of a year, for example due to ill health, can seek places outside their 
normal age group. If an application is received for a child outside of their normal year 
group the relevant admission authority must make a decision of the basis of the 
circumstances of each case and the parent will be informed of their right of appeal. 
This right does not apply if they are offered a place in another year group at the 
school. 

 
Where a parent contacts the School Admissions Team with a request for their child to 
be admitted into a different year group than the relevant one according to their date 
of birth then the following will apply: 

 
The parent will be required to put all information in writing to the School Admissions 
Team. It is for the parent to ensure that they have submitted all relevant 
documentation as no further request will be made to the parent. The paperwork must 
be submitted before the published closing date relevant to their child’s date of birth. 
 
If the application is for a school where Bracknell Forest is the admission authority 
The paper work will be forwarded to the Principal Educational Psychologist who will 
advise the admission authority. This advice will then be discussed with the 
Headteacher of the relevant school(s) and a final decision will be made. 
 
If the application is for a school that is their own admission authority (eg voluntary 
aided school, academies etc) then the request and the supporting documents will be 
forwarded to the Governors of that school for their decision regarding the request. 
 
The decision from all relevant admission authorities will be sent to the parent from 
the local authority and this decision is final. 
 
DEFINITIONS 
 
Parent 
Parent is defined under S576 of the Education Act 1996 as: 

 all natural parents, whether they are married or not    

 any person who, although not a natural parent, has parental responsibility for 
a child or young person    

 any person who, although not a natural parent,  has care of a child or young 
person (having care of a child or young person means that a person with 
whom the child lives and who looks after the child, irrespective of what their 
relationship is with the child, is considered to be a parent in education law). 



 

 50 

 
Sibling  
Refers to a brother or sister, half brother or sister, adopted brother or sister, step 
brother or sister, or the child of the parent/carer’s partner where the child for whom 
the school place is sought is living in the same family unit at the same address as 
that sibling. 
 
Designated areas/catchment areas  
Maps showing the designated area of a school are available to view on the Bracknell 
Forest Council’s website, at the school in question, at the main Bracknell library or at 
a council office on request. 
Parents can also find their designated area school on the Bracknell Forest Council’s 
website via ‘findmynearest’ and entering their road name or postcode. 
 
  



 

 51 

SECONDARY TRANSFER TIMETABLE 
SEPTEMBER 2017 ENTRY 

 

Date Action 

By 12 September 2016 Composite prospectus for Bracknell Forest secondary 
transfers to be published on the council’s website   

  

By 12 September 2016 Application information sent out via pupil post where 
appropriate or to the home address 

  

12 September 2016 Online application site open  

  

31 October 2016 Closing date for paper applications  

  

Midday 31 October 2016 Closing date for online applications 

  

14 February 2017 SEN Team to inform parents of statemented pupils of 
their allocated school 

  

31 December 2015 Latest date for accepting applications for those moving 
into the area. 

  

Beginning of the spring term 2017 Own admission authorities to inform the local authority 
of their ranking 

  

24 February 2017 Advise schools of indicative numbers 

  

1 March 2017 Offer emails sent. Letters sent out. 

  

29 February 2017 Appeal timetable to be published on council’s website. 
Own admission authorities to publish their own 

  

15 March 2017 Deadline for parents to accept offers.  
Second round begins. 

  

15 April 2017 Appeals should be submitted by this date to be heard 
together. 

  

Summer Term 2017 Local authority to advise schools of final allocation 
details 
Appeals to be heard 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 52 

 
PUBLISHED ADMISSIONS NUMBERS FOR 2017/18 

 

Secondary Schools: 
2017/18 

PAN 

Brakenhale 210 

Easthampstead Park 240 

Edgbarrow 210* 

Garth Hill 312 

Sandhurst 200 

 
 

* May be increased subject to building work being completed 
 
  



 

 53 

Annex 6 
 

School Admissions Arrangements 
2017/18 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Admission policy for sixth form community 
schools 

For entry to schools in 2017-2018  
 



 

 

SIXTH FORM ADMISSIONS 2017/18 
 

 Entitlement to sixth form education  
 

All secondary schools in Bracknell Forest have sixth forms and pupils in individual 
schools are entitled to be considered for entry into their school sixth form provided 
they meet the entry criteria for individual courses and that there are sufficient spaces 
to meet their requirements.  
 
Bracknell Forest secondary schools must first offer places for sixth form to year 11 
students within the school and then to external applicants provided an appropriate 
course is available for a suitably qualified student.  
 
School governing bodies must set an admission number for Year 12 for external 
applicants. An admission number for Year 12 must be set and submitted to the local 
authority before 1 July 2016 for implementation in the following academic year (14 
months later), after inclusion in the annual consultation on the authority’s admissions 
arrangements, and to facilitate publication in the authority’s composite prospectus for 
that year of entry.  
 

 Roles and Responsibilities  
 
The responsibility for determining the admissions policy for community sixth forms in 
secondary schools is that of the local authority. Administration of sixth form 
admissions is delegated by the local authority to the community secondary schools.  
 
There is a Church of England Academy secondary school in Bracknell Forest; 
Ranelagh, which sets and administers its own admissions arrangements for the sixth 
form. 
 

 Start dates  
 
All students are required to start on, or the first school day after, 1 September 2017.  
 

 Published Admission Number  
 
This is the number of places that the admission authority must offer in each relevant 
age group for a school for which it is the admission authority.  
 
For 6th Forms the published admission number must relate only to those being 
admitted to the school for the first time and should be based on an estimate of the 
minimum number of external applicants likely to be admitted, although it would be 
acceptable to exceed this if demand for available courses can be met. This Published 
Admission Number is separate from the main schools admission number and has no 
bearing on the capacity of the main school. 
 

 Applying for entry into sixth forms  
 

Applications should be made on the school’s application form and forwarded to the 
school’s Head of Sixth Form by 26 February 2017. The application form will also be 
submitted to the local authority to ensure that it meets the requirements of the School 
Admissions Code.  



 

 2 

It is unlawful for schools to interview students or their families to determine a place; 
although meetings may be arranged to provide advice on options and entry 
requirements for particular courses.  
 
Entry to courses in the sixth form must not be dependent on attendance, behaviour 
record, or perceptions of attitude or motivation as this is unlawful.  
 
To ensure transparency; schools will publicise what courses are available; the entry 
requirements for each; and provide statistics about the number of internal and 
external applicants accepted and refused on each course, plus the number of 
applications received for each course in the previous year.  
 
Schools will provide this statistical information to the local authority in September 
each year in order that a report may be prepared for the Schools Admissions Forum. 
 
Parents may apply by the deadline given in the school prospectus and pass the 
application form to the nominated person on the application form.  
 
Places allocated will be offered in accordance with the published admissions criteria. 
Parents should ensure that they read the admissions policy and complete the 
standard application form for admission to the sixth form.  
 
Offers of places to external students are subject to the school confirming date of birth 
or right of abode by examination of the birth certificate and/or student’s passport, as 
appropriate.  
 
Applications will be considered by a committee of the Governing Body, or this may be 
delegated to the Headteacher or Head of Sixth Form plus at least one other member 
of staff nominated by the Governing Body.  
 
Parents will be asked to declare that the address used will be their place of 
residence, the offer of a place may be withdrawn if false or misleading information is 
given.  
 

 Allocation of places (oversubscription criteria)  
 
In the case of oversubscription for a place on a particular course, places will be 
offered first to students within the school and then to external applicants.  
 
The following criteria will be used to allocate the available places on those courses 
that receive more applications than can be accommodated:  
 
Children with statements of special educational needs or an Education Health & Care 
Plan that name a school in the statement are required to be admitted to the school 
that is named and who meet the academic requirements for the course. The 
admissions authority does not have the right to refuse admission.  
 
A  Looked After Children29 and all previously looked after children. Previously 

looked after children are children who were looked after, but ceased to be so 
because they were adopted30 (or became subject to a child arrangements 

                                                
29 A 'looked after child' is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being provided with accommodation by a local 

authority in the exercise of their social services functions (see the definition in Section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989) at the 
time of making an application to a school.   

30 This includes children who were adopted under the Adoption Act 1976 (see section 12 adoption orders) and children who 
were adopted under the Adoption and Children’s Act 2002 (see section 46 adoption orders). 



 

 3 

order31 or special guardianship order32) immediately following having been 
looked after. 

 
B  Students who meet the academic requirements for the level of course applied 

for, as published in the school prospectus.  
 
Available places are those places available after existing students in the school have 
indicated their preference against their entitlement.  
 
Tie Breaker  
 
Priority will be given within any of the above oversubscription criteria to the applicant 
whose permanent home address is nearest to the school in terms of radial distance. 
Distances will be measured consistently, using the local authority computerised 
mapping system and the distance will be measured as a straight line between the 
Land Property Gazetteer address points for the respective home address and school.  
 
Where the school is oversubscribed, further information will be required to verify the 
home address e.g. council tax or utility bill.  
 

 Waiting Lists  
 
A waiting list will not be held. 
 

 Late Applications  
 
If an application is received after the deadline and before the date parents are 
notified of places, this will be considered ‘late’. Late applications will be considered 
after the allocation of places and notified after the main allocation date, unless 
exceptional circumstances apply, e.g. hospitalisation of a parent or a family has just 
moved into the area. In such instances, evidence will be required.  
 

 Applications received after the normal admissions round  
 
Applications received after the start of the school year will only be considered if 
places on the requested courses are available and the student meets the academic 
requirements of the course.  
 

 Multiple births or children with birth dates in the same academic year  
 
Application for places is based on meeting the individual requirements of the course. 
No guarantee of a place is given to students with either the same birth dates or 
children born in the same academic year from the same family.  
 

 Accepting or declining the offer of a place  
 
Places are offered on the understanding that there is a commitment to meet the 
academic requirements of the course.  
 

                                                
31 Child arrangements orders are defined in s.8 of the Children Act 1989, as amended by s.12 of the Children and Families Act 

2014. Child arrangements orders replace residence orders and any residence order in force prior to 22 April 2014 is deemed 
to be a child arrangements order. 

32 See Section 14A of the Children Act 1989 which defines a ‘special guardianship order’ as an order 
appointing one or more individuals to be a child’s special guardian (or special guardians).   



 

 4 

Parents are required to accept or decline the allocated place using the form sent with 
the allocation letter. The form must be returned to the school within two weeks from 
the date of the offer letter. Failure to respond may result in the place being 
withdrawn. Parents are requested to advise the school at any stage, if they are not 
accepting the place for any reason.  
 

 Appeals The student and/or the parents of students, internal or external, who 
are not offered a place, have the right to appeal against non-admission. 

  



 

 5 

Annex 7 
 

School Admissions Arrangements 
2017/18 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

In-Year Admission to Secondary School  
and  

Primary, Infant and Junior schools  
For entry to schools in 2017-2018  

 
 

 
 



 

 

BACKGROUND  
 
There is no statutory requirement for a co-ordinated admissions process for in-year 
applications however Bracknell Forest will continue to co-ordinate all applications for 
ALL schools within the local authority. If an application is received after the academic 
year has started then it will be treated as an “in year” application. If a parent requires 
a school place within another authority then they must contact that authority in the 
first instance. 
 
When drawing up admissions arrangements, admissions authorities must ensure 
that the practices and the criteria used to decide the allocation of school places are 
clear, fair and objective, for the benefit of all children, including those with special 
educational needs, disabilities or in the care of the LA, including those children who 
were previously in care. The Admissions Arrangements must also comply with the 
relevant legislation, including the equalities legislation.  Bracknell Forest Local 
Authority’s admissions criteria for its maintained schools reflect these requirements.   
There is no guarantee that a school place will be available at the school(s) chosen by 
the parents.  However, the Admissions Authority will adhere to the parent’s 
expressed preference subject to availability of a school places and in accordance 
with the relevant oversubscription criteria.  
 
MAIN DETAILS OF THE CO-ORDINATION 
 
The Local Authority (LA) will manage all in year applications for ALL schools within 
Bracknell Forest. Applicants who wish to apply for a place within a Bracknell Forest 
school will need to contact the School Admissions Team at the council to obtain a 
form or apply using the council’s online application process. 
 
The Governors of a voluntary aided school or an academy set and apply their own 
admissions arrangements. A list of academies and voluntary aided schools within 
Bracknell Forest can be found in the Guide to In Year Applications. These schools 
will continue to be able to operate their own published over subscription criteria.  The 
over subscription criteria must be clear, fair and objective and they must comply with 
the School Admissions Code.  
 
However applications for these schools along with any applications for 
maintained schools must be made on the Common Application Form available 
from the School Admissions Team at Bracknell Council. 
 
Voluntary aided (VA) schools or academies can prepare a Supplementary 
Information Form (SIF) to be completed if they require further information in order for 
them to allocate places at their school against their admissions criteria.  Governing 
Bodies of VA schools and academies and the Local Authority will make the SIF 
available to parents/carers both in hard copy and as a document on their school 
website.  The forms will be available from and can be returned to, either the 
individual schools or the Local Authority. 
  
The LA will process all the applications for aided schools and academies and then 
transfer the request for a school place and all relevant information electronically to 
schools. 
 
The LA will process and apply the relevant criteria to applications received for all 
maintained school within the borough. 
 



 

 7 

 It will be necessary for all schools to inform the LA at regular intervals of their 
numbers on roll.  This information may be collected electronically.  
 
If a parent wishes to apply for a school that is not within Bracknell Forest then they 
must contact the maintaining local authority in which the school is situated for advice 
on their procedure.  
 

 Making an Application 
 

Where a family is applying for a Bracknell Forest school then they can obtain a copy 
of the common application form (CAF) from the School Admissions Team or can 
apply using the online application form on the Council’s website. This must be 
submitted to the School Admissions Team who will process applications for all 
schools within the borough. Both formats will be treated in the same way. 

 
The form will allow parents to name three Bracknell Forest schools and parents are 
encouraged to do this.  Parents will be asked to rank their preferences.  It will also 
allow them to give reasons for each preference. 
 
If the application is for a place in year 10 or 11 it is important that the child visits the 
school to ensure that they can meet their requirements for GCSE before making an 
application. This is important even when there are available school places. 
 
If applicants wish for one or more of their preferences to be considered under the 
designated area criteria then they will have to send in a copy of their current council 
tax statement with their application in order to prove their residency. If an applicant 
does not have a copy of their council tax statement then they should contact their 
council tax office to obtain a copy. (Service families should refer to General 
Information section below). In order to accept the offer of a place, applicants will 
need to provide a copy of their child’s short birth certificate. 
 
Those children who are currently in a Bracknell Forest school and wish to change to 
another Bracknell Forest school can obtain a copy of the form from their current 
headteacher. 
 

 Information for parents 
 
If an application is received after the academic year has started then it will be treated 
as an “in year” application.  For further information and guidance please refer to the 
booklet ‘Guide to In Year Applications Bracknell Forest’ This can be found on the 
Bracknell Forest website or a hard copy can be requested.  
 
An application for a school place will only be accepted up to a half a term before the 
parent wishes the child to start. 
 
Where demand exists, schools admit up to their admission number and no places are 
reserved for pupils moving into their designated area. 

 
An application will normally be processed within 5 school days of receipt. This may 
take longer if it has to be forwarded to another admission authority for consideration 
(for example a VA school or an academy). The application may also be delayed if 
there is a need to refer to another agency or if it is to be referred to the Fair Access 
Panel (see General Information). 
 



 

 8 

If the application is for the following academic year then the application can only be 
accepted after 1st July. Please refer to ‘new academic year applications’ section 
below for further information. 
  
SECONDARY SCHOOL IN YEAR APPLICATIONS 2017/18 
 
Within Bracknell Forest there are 6 secondary schools. 5 of these are community 
schools (see list below) maintained by Bracknell Forest and one, Ranelagh School, is 
an academy and sets its own admission criteria, this can be obtained direct from the 
school or from the school’s website. 
 
However to make an application for any of the 6 schools they must be listed on the 
CAF available from Bracknell Forest School Admissions Team or via the online site. 
 
In circumstances where more applications than places are received for Bracknell 
Forest maintained schools, or if a year group has already reached its admission 
number then the application will be refused and ranked on the appropriate waiting list 
in the following criteria order  
 

 Oversubscription Criteria Bracknell Forest community schools: 
 
Bracknell Forest is the admission authority for community schools and sets the 
oversubscription criteria for the following five schools.  
 

Easthampstead Park School 

Edgbarrow School 

Garth Hill College 

Sandhurst School 

The Brakenhale School 

 
If an application is received for one of the schools listed in the table above the 
following criteria will apply: 
 
Children with a Statement of Special Educational Needs or an Education Health & 
Care Plan that names a specific school must, by law, be admitted to that school.  
After this requirement has been satisfied the following rules will apply: 
 
(A) Looked After Children33 and all previously looked after children. Previously 

looked after children are children who were looked after, but ceased to be so 
because they were adopted34 (or became subject to a child arrangements 
order35 or special guardianship order36) immediately following having been 
looked after. 

 
(B) Children who have either medical or social grounds for admission to a 

particular school. This evidence must set out the particular reason why the 
school in question is the only suitable school and the difficulties caused if the 

                                                
33 A 'looked after child' is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being provided with accommodation by a local 

authority in the exercise of their social services functions (see the definition in Section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989) at the 
time of making an application to a school.   

34 This includes children who were adopted under the Adoption Act 1976 (see section 12 adoption orders) and children who 
were adopted under the Adoption and Children’s Act 2002 (see section 46 adoption orders). 

35 Child arrangements orders are defined in s.8 of the Children Act 1989, as amended by s.12 of the Children and Families Act 
2014. Child arrangements orders replace residence orders and any residence order in force prior to 22 April 2014 is deemed 
to be a child arrangements order. 

36 See Section 14A of the Children Act 1989 which defines a ‘special guardianship order’ as an order 
appointing one or more individuals to be a child’s special guardian (or special guardians).   



 

 9 

child had to attend another school.  The LA’s decision in these matters is 
final. 

 
(C) Children who live in the designated area of the school. 
 
(D) Children who have brother(s) or sister(s) at the school (including sixth form), 

and who will still be attending school at the time of the applicant’s admission. 
This will be checked as necessary before an offer is made. These siblings 
include children living as siblings in the same family unit and at the same 
address as the child and for whom the applicant has parental responsibility.
   

 
In some cases a tie-breaker will be required.  If a school does not have places for all 
the children in one of the above criteria, priority will be given to children who fulfil a 
combination of higher admission criteria.  The combination of criteria will follow the 
same order of priority as the basic list of criteria.  (eg. an applicant who fulfils 
designated area will take precedence over one who fulfils sibling and feeder primary; 
an applicant who fulfils designated area and sibling, will take precedence over one 
who fulfils sibling and feeder primary etc)  
 
After this, if there are still insufficient places, and no distinction can be made between 
the applicants or if they do not fulfil any of the above criteria, a final decision will be 
made on the radial distance (straight line distance on a map) between the home and 
the school. Those living nearer to the school will be placed higher than those living 
further away.  Radial distance will be based on the co-ordinates for the property and 
the school as defined in the Local Land and Property Gazetteer and based on the 
Ordnance Survey’s national system. 
 
Distances are measured using direct distance calculations within a computer system. 
The measurement of each distance has been calculated using Pythagoras’ Theorem. 
The way in which this is done is to calculate the distance in metres between the 
Easting and Northing co-ordinates for each location. The measurement in metres is 
then multiplied by 0.000621317 to convert this measurement to miles.  The same 
method of calculation is used for each direct distance measured. 
 
If in the event that two or more children live at the same distance from school (for 
example for families living in flats) and there are fewer places available then random 
allocation will be used to decide which child will be allocated the remaining place(s). 
The process will be drawn and scrutinised by people who are independent of the 
Council. 
 
 
PRIMARY, INFANT AND JUNIOR SCHOOL IN YEAR APPLICATIONS 2017/18 
 
Within Bracknell Forest there are 25 primary schools, 3 infant schools and 3 junior 
schools. Of these, 6 primary schools are voluntary aided schools and set their own 
admission criteria. These criteria can be obtained direct from the schools or on the 
school websites. 
 
However to make an application for any of the 31 schools they must be listed on the 
CAF available from Bracknell Forest School Admissions Team or via the online site. 
 
 
 
 



 

 10 

 Application For Maintained Infant, Primary and Junior Schools 
 
If an application is received for any of the maintained primary infant or junior schools 
within Bracknell Forest the following will apply: 
 
In circumstances where more applications than places are received for Bracknell 
Forest community schools, or if a year group has already reached its admission 
number then the application will be refused and ranked on the appropriate waiting list 
in the following criteria order  
 

o Oversubscription Criteria for Infant, Primary and Junior Community 
School 

 
Bracknell Forest is the admission authority for community schools and sets the 
admission criteria. 
 
The following criteria apply to these Bracknell Forest community schools: 
 

Ascot Heath Infant Harmans Water Primary Uplands Primary 

 Birch Hill Primary Holly Spring Infant Whitegrove Primary 

College Town Infant Holly Spring Junior Wildridings Primary 

College Town Junior Meadow Vale Primary Wildmoor Heath Primary 

Cranbourne Primary New Scotland Hill Primary Wooden Hill Primary 

Crown Wood Primary Owlsmoor Primary  

Fox Hill Primary The Pines Primary  

Great Hollands Primary Sandy Lane Primary   

 
If an application is received for one of the schools listed in the table above the 
following criteria will apply: 
 
Children with a Statement of Special Educational Needs or an Education Health & 
Care Plan that names a specific school must, by law, be admitted to that school.  
After this requirement has been satisfied the following rules will apply: 
 
(A) Looked After Children37 and all previously looked after children. Previously 

looked after children are children who were looked after, but ceased to be so 
because they were adopted38 (or became subject to a child arrangements 
order39 or special guardianship order40) immediately following having been 
looked after. 

(B) Children who have either medical or social grounds for admission to a 
particular school. This evidence must set out the particular reason why the 
school in question is the only suitable school and the difficulties caused if the 
child had to attend another school.  The LA’s decision in these matters is 
final. 

 

                                                
37 A 'looked after child' is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being provided with accommodation by a local 

authority in the exercise of their social services functions (see the definition in Section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989) at the 
time of making an application to a school.   

38 This includes children who were adopted under the Adoption Act 1976 (see section 12 adoption orders) and children who 
were adopted under the Adoption and Children’s Act 2002 (see section 46 adoption orders). 

39 Child arrangements orders are defined in s.8 of the Children Act 1989, as amended by s.12 of the Children and Families Act 
2014. Child arrangements orders replace residence orders and any residence order in force prior to 22 April 2014 is deemed 
to be a child arrangements order. 

40 See Section 14A of the Children Act 1989 which defines a ‘special guardianship order’ as an order 
appointing one or more individuals to be a child’s special guardian (or special guardians).   



 

 11 

C) Children who live in the designated area of the school. 

 
(D) Children who have statutory (compulsory) school age siblings, brother(s) or 

sister(s), at the school, and who will still be attending the school at the time of 
the child’s admission.   

 
 
In some cases a tie-breaker will be required. If a school does not have places for all 
the children in one of the above criteria, priority will be given to children who fulfil a 
combination of higher admission criteria.  The combination of criteria (categories) will 
follow the same order of priority as the basic list of criteria.  (eg. an applicant who 
fulfils designated area and sibling will take precedence over one who fulfils 
designated area.  
 
After this, if there are still insufficient places, and no distinction can be made between 
the applicants or if they do not fulfil any of the above criteria, a final decision will be 
made on the radial distance (straight line distance on a map) between the home and 
the school. Those living nearer to the school will be placed higher than those living 
further away.  Radial distance will be based on the co-ordinates for the property and 
the school as defined in the Local Land and Property Gazetteer and based on the 
Ordnance Survey’s national system. 

 
If in the event that two or more children live at the same distance from school (for 
example for families living in flats) and there are fewer places available then random 
allocation will be used to decide which child will be allocated the remaining place(s). 
The process will be drawn and scrutinised by people who are independent of the 
Council. 
  

o Oversubscription Criteria for Infant, Primary and Junior Voluntary 
Controlled School 

 
Bracknell Forest is the admission authority for their voluntary controlled schools and 
sets the admission criteria. 

These criteria apply to the following schools: 

 

Ascot Heath CE Junior Warfield CE Primary 

Crowthorne CE Primary Winkfield St Mary’s CE Primary 

 
If an application is received for one of the schools listed in the table above the 
following criteria will apply: 

 
Children with a Statement of Special Educational Needs or an Education Health & 
Care Plan that names a specific school must, by law, be admitted to that school.  
After this requirement has been satisfied the following rules will apply: 
 
(A) Looked After Children41 and all previously looked after children. Previously 

looked after children are children who were looked after, but ceased to be so 
because they were adopted42 (or became subject to a child arrangements 

                                                
41 A 'looked after child' is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being provided with accommodation by a local 

authority in the exercise of their social services functions (see the definition in Section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989) at the 
time of making an application to a school.   

42 This includes children who were adopted under the Adoption Act 1976 (see section 12 adoption orders) and children who 
were adopted under the Adoption and Children’s Act 2002 (see section 46 adoption orders). 



 

 12 

order43 or special guardianship order44) immediately following having been 
looked after. 

 
(B) Children who have either medical or social grounds for admission to a 

particular school. This evidence must set out the particular reason why the 
school in question is the only suitable school and the difficulties caused if the 
child had to attend another school.  The LA’s decision in these matters is 
final. 

 
(C) Children who live in the designated area of the school. 

 
(D) Children who have statutory (compulsory) school age siblings, brother(s) or 

sister(s), at the school, and who will still be attending the school at the time of 
the child’s admission.   

 
(E) Children whose parents choose the school on denominational grounds. 
 
In some cases a tie-breaker will be required.  If a school does not have places for all 
the children in one of the above criteria, priority will be given to children who fulfil a 
combination of higher admission criteria.  The combination of criteria (categories) will 
follow the same order of priority as the basic list of criteria.  (eg. an applicant who 
fulfils designated area and sibling will take precedence over one who fulfils 
designated area.  
 
After this, if there are still insufficient places, and no distinction can be made between 
the applicants or if they do not fulfil any of the above criteria, a final decision will be 
made on the radial distance (straight line distance on a map) between the home and 
the school. Those living nearer to the school will be placed higher than those living 
further away.  Radial distance will be based on the co-ordinates for the property and 
the school as defined in the Local Land and Property Gazetteer and based on the 
Ordnance Survey’s national system. 

 
If in the event that two or more children live at the same distance from school (for 
example for families living in flats) and there are fewer places available then random 
allocation will be used to decide which child will be allocated the remaining place(s). 
The process will be drawn and scrutinised by people who are independent of the 
Council. 
 

 Faith-based school with a religious character 
 

A faith-based school with a religious character is required to offer every child who 

applies, whether of the faith, another faith, or no faith, a place at the school if there is 

a place available.  However, faith-based schools are popular and often over 

subscribed.  Such schools are permitted to use faith-based oversubscription criteria 

and allocate places by reference to faith where the school is oversubscribed. 
 
 
 
 

                                                
43 Child arrangements orders are defined in s.8 of the Children Act 1989, as amended by s.12 of the Children and Families Act 

2014. Child arrangements orders replace residence orders and any residence order in force prior to 22 April 2014 is deemed 
to be a child arrangements order. 

44 See Section 14A of the Children Act 1989 which defines a ‘special guardianship order’ as an order 
appointing one or more individuals to be a child’s special guardian (or special guardians).   



 

 13 

o Denominational Grounds for Voluntary Controlled Schools  

 

Where an application is submitted on the basis of denominational grounds (faith 

based) for a voluntary controlled school, it will be necessary for at least one of the 

parents/carers of the child concerned to regularly attend a church that is part of the 

group of Churches Together in England, Scotland, Wales or Northern Ireland.  This 

group includes the following category of churches - Church of England, all the 

protestant non-conformist churches (e.g. Baptist, Methodist, United Reform) and 

Roman Catholic or any other Christian denominational church.   
 
At least one of the parents/carers, who live at the same address as the child, must 
attend worship on at least two occasions in each calendar month for at least 8 
months of the year in the 12 months prior to the date of application. Attendance does 
not include services of marriage, funerals or christenings (except for the christening 
of the child seeking entrance to the particular school). 
 
Applicants will need to complete the relevant form in order to confirm that they are 
applying to the school on denominational grounds. In addition it will then be 
necessary for the form to be passed onto their local clergy for verification before it is 
sent to the School Admissions Team. 
 
 

o Voluntary Aided or Academy Schools 
 
Within Bracknell Forest there are 6 voluntary aided/academy primary schools and 
they are each their own admissions authority. These schools will continue to be able 
to operate their own published over subscription criteria. However applications for 
these schools must be made on the Common Application Form available from 
the School Admissions Team at Bracknell Council or via the council’s online 
service. Some of these schools require Supplementary Forms to be completed. 
Further information and a copy of the form can be found on either the schools 
website, the council’s website or from the school direct. 
 
The 6 voluntary aided/academy primary schools within Bracknell Forest are as 
follows: 
 

Binfield Primary CE School St Margaret Clitherow RC Primary School 

Jennett’s Park CE Primary School St Michael’s East’d CE Primary School 

St Joseph’s RC Primary School St Michael’s Sandh’t CE Primary School 

 
 
ALLOCATION OF PLACES 
 

 Applications for community and voluntary controlled schools 
 

The LA as the admissions authority for community and voluntary controlled schools 
will consider all applications and apply the admissions arrangements as published.   
The LA will advise all parents of the result of their application. 
 

 Application for Aided Schools or Academies 
 
The LA will process all the applications for the Aided schools and academies and the 
requests for a place in their school will be forwarded to the Governors for their 



 

 14 

decision. The Governing Bodies of Aided schools and academies will advise the LA 
of their decision.   
 

 Allocation of all school Places 
 
Bracknell Forest School Admissions Team will offer places for all schools within 
Bracknell Forest. Where an application has been forwarded to the Governors of a 
school that is its own admission authority, the Governors will inform the LA of the 
outcome. A letter will be sent to the parent with the offer and start date and the 
parent will be asked to contact the school to arrange the start. They will issue 
refusals if necessary and give details of the appeals process and details regarding 
education transport.   
 
If the LA cannot offer a place at any of the preferred schools a decision will be made 
to either: 

In cases where a child is out of school or not attending a local school then an 
offer will be made to the parent for a place for their child at the next nearest school 
with vacancies to the home address of the family, this may not necessarily be their 
designated area school and it may be some distance from their home address.  
 In cases where a child is currently attending a local school a refusal will be 
sent and no alternative offer will be made.   
 

 Offers to non Bracknell Forest residents 
 

If an offer is made for a Bracknell Forest school to a child who is not a Bracknell 
Forest resident then we will ensure that we inform the relevant local authority of this 
offer. 
 

NEW ACADEMIC YEAR APPLICATIONS 
 
Where an application is for the start of the following academic year (ie to start in 
September of the new academic year) then this will not be processed until after 1st 
July. Parents will still be able to visit schools and obtain all of the necessary 
information and supplementary forms (as required) before this date.  
 
Applications will then be processed in ‘rounds’. 
 
 

GENERAL INFORMATION FOR PRIMARY, INFANT, JUNIOR AND 
SECONDARY IN-YEAR APPLICATIONS 
 

 Child arrangements orders (previously shared residence orders) 
 
It is increasingly common that parents are agreeing, and courts are endorsing, child 
arrangements orders (previously known as) shared residence orders under Section 8 
of The Children Act 1989.  Further advice on this matter can be obtained from the 
School Admissions Team. Any details regarding shared residency, or the child’s 
living arrangements, must be submitted at the time of application.  It is the parents’ 
responsibility to provide this information. As a general rule shared residence is based 
(for admissions purposes) on the number of school nights a child spends at the 
home. The School Admissions Team may take legal advice on these matters as they 
relate to a specific case. A main address will need to be used to process the 
application. If the second parent/carer’s address is different from the first they will not 
receive any information/letters unless this is requested.  



 

 15 

 

 Home address  
 
It is for the applicant to satisfy the Admissions Authority that they live at the address 
that they state.  Providing an address where the child does not live permanently in 
order to secure a place at a school may amount to a fraudulent act.  If fraud is 
suspected then further proof may be requested.  If fraud is established then any offer 
of a school place will be withdrawn. If a parent/carer owns a property within the 
Borough which they do not occupy and/or rent out and then move into another 
property within, or nearer to the designated area of the preferred school, the address 
of the property they own will be the address used for determining their designated 
area, unless the owned house has been rented out for 12 months prior to the date 
the form was received. 
  
If an applicant already owns a property within the borough which is in the process of 
being sold Bracknell Forest is able to accept the address of the new property on 
submission of the appropriate evidence in support eg. a solicitor’s letter showing 
exchange of contracts. The address must be a permanent address, temporary 
addresses are not acceptable. If applicants are in the process of moving house within 
Bracknell Forest they should contact School Admissions Team for further advice.  
 

 Appeals  
 
If an application is refused then with the refusal letter will be sent information on the 
right to appeal. The LA will also inform parents about the appeals process on behalf 
of the Governors of any own admission authority school. Appeals must be heard 
within 30 school days of the appeal being lodged. 
  

 Waiting lists 
 
If there is not a place at the preferred school then the applicant will be asked if they 
wish their child’s name to be placed on a waiting list of their preferred school. Parents 
should be aware that their child’s name can go up or down the waiting list according 
to the priority of new additions to the list, for example someone moving into the area 
is placed on the appropriate place on the waiting list. This information will then be 
passed to the relevant admission authority for them to process according to their 
arrangements. The LA will maintain the waiting lists on behalf of all primary schools 
within Bracknell Forest. Waiting lists requests for Ranelagh School, which is an 
academy, will be forwarded to them. A new application will only be required after 1st 
July each year to be placed back on a waiting list for the following academic year. 
 

 Applicants from abroad  
 

If families are moving from abroad, then they (including the child) must be resident in 
the UK before an application for a school place can be accepted.  Proof of residency 
in the UK will be required.  If they are living abroad and returning to a property that 
they own, then they will need to produce written proof confirming the details and 
timing of the relocation. Further advice on the documentation required can be 
obtained from the School Admissions Team.  
 

 Service Families 
 
Families of UK service personnel with a confirmed posting to the Bracknell Forest 
area (or Crown Servants returning from overseas to live in Bracknell Forest) will be 



 

 16 

able to make an application for a school place if it is accompanied by an official 
government letter declaring a relocation date and a Unit postal address or quartering 
address.  
 
For those who already live in Bracknell Forest a formal letter from their chain of 
command verifying their address would be accepted. 
 
Families must indicate on the application form if they are a service family and wish to 
be considered under this category.   
Where a child of UK service personnel family moves into the area is unable to secure 
a place at a local school they may be admitted to that school as an excepted pupil. 
Proof of the posting and / or residence is the same as above.  
 
Further information on the documentation required can be obtained from the School 
Admissions Team. 
 

 Fair Access Protocol 
 

In line with the School Admissions Code Bracknell Forest has a fair access protocol 
which prioritises admission for certain categories of vulnerable children. The protocol 
takes priority on a school’s waiting list and the LA may require a school to admit 
above their PAN. Further information on the Fair Access Protocol will be available on 
the website. 
 
If an application is identified as being under the Fair Access Protocol then it will be 
heard at the next panel meeting and the applicant informed. 
 

Social Grounds or Medical Grounds (criterion B) 
 
If a parent has indicated on the Common Application Form that they wish their 
application to be considered on either social or medical need it is their responsibility 
to obtain a form which must be completed and returned to the School Admissions 
Team along with supporting written evidence from a professional by the given closing 
date.  The supporting evidence for medical grounds should be from the relevant 
registered professional(s) involved with the child or family. Examples include 
registered health professionals, such as Consultant, GP, Psychologist, Psychiatrist; 
or registered social care professionals such as a Social Worker / Care Manager.  
Please note, evidence from childminders will not normally be accepted as sufficient 
evidence. All evidence must be on letter headed paper. 
 
This evidence must set out the particular reasons why the school in question is the 
only suitable school and the difficulties caused if the child had to attend another 
school. This evidence must be specific to the school in question; it must show why 
only that school is the most suitable; what facilities will benefit the child, and why no 
other school can offer the same support. Where relevant this school must be the 
most appropriate for the family circumstances. However it will not be possible to 
consider an application under this criterion if no supporting evidence is supplied. The 
Local Authority will not contact professionals involved with the family as it is for the 
applicant to supply this information when submitting the social/medical form. The LA 
reserves the right to ask parents to supply further evidence or clarification where the 
LA considers necessary. It is important that applicants seeking to rely on these 
grounds provide the fullest supporting evidence they can by the closing date. It is the 
parent’s responsibility to produce this evidence.  Where further evidence is required it 
will need to be supplied by the closing date so that the decision can be made 



 

 17 

alongside all other applications for places at the particular school. Evidence 
submitted after the closing date will not be considered.  Only in exceptional 
circumstances the LA may apply it’s discretion to consider evidence submitted after 
the closing date.  It is therefore very important to submit all relevant evidence 
together with the application to avoid possible delay.  But in any event all the relevant 
evidence must be submitted by the closing date to ensure full and proper 
consideration. 
 
Medical 
If a child or the parent/ carer of that child has a medical condition, that is a serious 
chronic health condition, or one that would cause significant hardship or risk if the 
child could not attend the preferred school it must be indicated on the application as 
their highest preferred school.  
 
All schools have the resources to work with special educational needs and common 
childhood complaints such as asthma.  
 
Social 
If a child or the parent/ carer of that child has a social need that would cause 
significant hardship or risk if the child could not attend the preferred school it must be 
indicated on the application as their highest preferred school.  
 
Also considered under this criterion on social grounds will be parents who have 
applied for a place at their designated area primary, infant or junior school only 
(this is not for a secondary school place) as their highest preferred school for an 
older child and the local authority have been unable to meet this preference and a 
place has been allocated to this older child at an alternative school. If the parent then 
wishes to apply for this alternative school by the published closing date for their 
younger child the applicant must notify The School Admissions Team on their 
application for that younger child that they consider this criterion applies and ensure 
all relevant information is supplied. This information will be assessed as published in 
the procedure for dealing with social or medical applications. 
 
If a parent moves house or chooses not to accept the offer of a place at their 
designated area school then this information will have been recorded by The School 
Admissions Team at the time and will used in the decision making process as to 
whether a younger child will be accepted as fulfilling this criterion. 
 
 

 Looked After and Previously Looked After Children 
 
Criterion A includes Looked After Children45 and all previously looked after children. 
Previously looked after children are children who were looked after, but ceased to be 
so because they were adopted46 (or became subject to a child arrangements order47 
or special guardianship order48) immediately following having been looked after. 
 

                                                
45 A 'looked after child' is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being provided with accommodation by a local 

authority in the exercise of their social services functions (see the definition in Section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989) at the 
time of making an application to a school.   

46 This includes children who were adopted under the Adoption Act 1976 (see section 12 adoption orders) and children who 
were adopted under the Adoption and Children’s Act 2002 (see section 46 adoption orders). 

47 Child arrangements orders are defined in s.8 of the Children Act 1989, as amended by s.12 of the Children and Families Act 
2014. Child arrangements orders replace residence orders and any residence order in force prior to 22 April 2014 is deemed 
to be a child arrangements order. 

48 See Section 14A of the Children Act 1989 which defines a ‘special guardianship order’ as an order 
appointing one or more individuals to be a child’s special guardian (or special guardians).   



 

 18 

If a parent or LA (where relevant) wishes to apply under this criterion it is their 
responsibility to ensure that all relevant paper work is submitted with the application., 
for example a copy of the relevant order issued by the family court. Should a parent 
not submit any relevant documentation with their application it will be assumed that 
the parent does not wish these circumstances to be taken in to account. 
 

 Admission of children outside their normal age group 
 

Parents of gifted and talented children, or those who have experienced problems or 
missed part of a year, for example due to ill health, can seek places outside their 
normal age group. If an application is received for a child outside of their normal year 
group the relevant admission authority must make a decision of the basis of the 
circumstances of each case and the parent will be informed of their right of appeal. 
This right does not apply if they are offered a place in another year group at the 
school. 

 
Where a parent contacts the School Admissions Team with a request for their child to 
be admitted into a different year group than the relevant one according to their date 
of birth then the following will apply: 

 
The parent will be required to put all information in writing to the School Admissions 
Team. It is for the parent to ensure that they have submitted all relevant 
documentation as no further request will be made to the parent. The paperwork must 
be submitted before the application will be processed outside their normal age group. 
 
If the application is for a school where Bracknell Forest is the admission authority 
(community and voluntary controlled schools) the paper work will be forwarded to the 
Principal Educational Psychologist who will advise the admission authority. This 
advice will then be discussed with the Headteacher of the relevant school(s) and a 
final decision will be made. 
 
If the application is for a school that is their own admission authority (eg voluntary 
aided school, academies etc) then the request and the supporting documents will be 
forwarded to the Governors of that school for their decision regarding the request. 
 
The decision from all relevant admission authorities will be sent to the parent from 
the local authority and this decision is final. 
 
Further detailed guidance is available separately. 
 

 Definitions 
 

Parent 
Parent is defined under S576 of the Education Act 1996 as: 

 all natural parents, whether they are married or not    

 any person who, although not a natural parent, has parental responsibility for 
a child or young person    

 any person who, although not a natural parent,  has care of a child or young 
person (having care of a child or young person means that a person with 
whom the child lives and who looks after the child, irrespective of what their 
relationship is with the child, is considered to be a parent in education law). 

  
 



 

 19 

Sibling 
Sibling refers to a brother or sister, half brother or sister, adopted brother or sister, 
step brother or sister, or the child of the parent/carer’s partner where the child for 
whom the school place is sought is living in the same family unit at the same address 
as that sibling. 
 
Designated Area/Catchment area 
Maps showing the designated area of a school are available to view on the Bracknell 
Forest website, at the school in question, at the main Bracknell library or at a council 
office on request. 
 
Parents can also find their designated area school on the Bracknell Forest website 
via ‘findmynearest’ and entering their road name or postcode. 
 
  



 

 20 

Annex 8 

 
School Admissions Arrangements 
2017/2018 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Coordinated Scheme for Admission to Community Nursery 
Classes 

For entry to schools in 2017-2018  



Unrestricted 

 

NURSERY CLASS ADMISSIONS 2017/18 
 

 Introduction 
 
The LA continues to set the arrangements for admissions to nursery classes in community 
and voluntary controlled schools. The responsibility of administering this policy is with the 
relevant school.  
The governing body of an aided school with a nursery class is responsible for setting the 
policy and administering the admission of children to its nursery.   
 

 General Requirements 
 

All eligible three and four year olds are currently entitled to 570 hours of free provision a 

year, over a minimum of 38 weeks of the year. This equates to15 hours free early learning 

and care per week, for 38 weeks per year during term time, across a minimum of three days.  
 

The entitlement must be offered within part of the National Framework for Delivery and 

cannot be accessed in stand-alone blocks of less than 2 ½ hours or more than 10 hours in 

one day. The full weekly entitlement of 15 hours can be accessed over a minimum of 2 days 

per week.   
 
Parents may choose to take up as much or as little of this entitlement as they wish.  If the 
chosen setting does not offer the full entitlement of 38 weeks per year, Bracknell Forest 
Council will not fund the extra weeks at an alternative setting. 
 
Parents using a provider who is open for less than the 38 weeks are forfeiting the remaining 
weeks as they cannot take these with another provider as part of the free entitlement, 
although they can opt to pay for these as additional hours/weeks.  
 

It is generally regarded as good early year’s practice that your child attends only one setting 

for their free entitlement as this is believed to be in the best interests of a child, and all 

settings should be able to offer the 15 hours. However we are aware, that sometimes this is 

not possible due to individual circumstances.  
 

Parents are under no obligation to take up extra hours or weeks, or additional services over 

and above the free entitlement, which some providers may offer and for which charges may 

be payable.  

 
Parents will be asked to express a preference for hours of attendance and where flexibility is 
offered the school will do its best to meet the preference. However, prior to completing the 
application form, parents are advised to speak to the nurseries they are interested in to 
ensure that the nursery offers hours of attendance that meet their needs. A nursery is not 
required to change the hours it offers to suit the needs of parents. However, the Local 
Authority will monitor working parent demand for flexible hours and will negotiate with 
nurseries for a change in hours where appropriate. 
 

 Inclusion 
 
Bracknell Forest council has an inclusive education policy and children will not be 
discriminated against. This includes reasons such as developmental delay eg a child’s self-
help skills are delayed affecting activities such as dressing, feeding or toilet training or 
additional needs such as emotional or behavioural difficulties. 
 



 

 4 

 Admission Number 
 
An admission number is set taking into consideration the staffing levels and physical 
limitation of the space available at the nursery class. The admission number will be set by 
the local authority. 
 

 Applications 
 
The minimum age of admission will be three years.  Children will be able to start the term 
after their third birthday and remain there until of statutory school age.  The timetable for 
admission must be published by each school. 
  

 

If the child is born on or 
between 

Applications to be made to 
setting by:  

They are eligible for a free 
part-time place in the term 
following their third birthday 

1 September and 31 Dec 31 May Spring Term (January) 

1 January and 31 March 31 October Summer Term (April) 

1 April and 31 August 28 February Autumn Term (September) 

 
The above table indicates the time scales for parents making applications to schools for a 
part-time place in the term following their third birthday.  
 

 Appeals 
 
Parents do not have a statutory right of appeal to an independent panel in relation to nursery 
admissions.  It is therefore essential that all admissions decisions can be justified by 
reference to published admissions arrangements that are adhered to in all cases and by all 
schools. 
 

 Admissions Policy 
 

Places will be offered in accordance with the published oversubscription criteria. Parents 
should ensure that they have read the admissions policy and have completed the correct 
application form. 
 
Schools will publish this policy in advance in line with the timetable so that parents will be 
able to clearly see when they should apply for their child’s entry to a nursery class. They 
should be published on the schools website and displayed within the school and made 
available to parents on request. 
 
 

 Common Application form - each parent will be required to fill in a common 
application form for nursery class admission.   

 

 Criteria for admissions - if there are more applications than there are places available 
then all applications will be put into rank order.  The order that they are put into is 
determined by the admissions criteria as set out below.  The criteria have been kept 
as simple as possible so as to comply with the requirement to be clear, fair and 
objective. 

 
Children with a Statement of Special Educational Needs or an Education Health & 
Care Plan that names the school must be admitted to that school. 
After this requirement has been satisfied the following rules will apply; 



 

 5 

 
A. Looked After Children49 and all previously looked after children. Previously 

looked after children are children who were looked after, but ceased to be so 
because they were adopted50 (or became subject to a child arrangements 
order51 or special guardianship order52) immediately following having been 
looked after. 

 
B. Children who will have an older brother or sister in the nursery at the time of the 

applicant’s admission.  These siblings include children living as siblings in the 
same family unit and at the same address as the chid and for whom the applicant 
has parental responsibility. 

 
C. oldest children first (date of birth order); 

 
If there are insufficient places for all the children in one of the above categories, priority will 
be given to children who fulfil more than one of the admissions criteria, using a combination 
of higher criteria.  After this, if there are still insufficient places, and no distinction can be 
made between the applicants, a final decision will be made on the radial distance between 
the home and the school. Radial distance will be based on the co-ordinates for the property 
and the school as defined in the Local Land and Property Gazetteer and based on the 
Ordnance Survey’s national system. These distances will be supplied to the school by the 
local authority on request. 

 

 Reception Classes 
 

Admission to a nursery class attached to a school does not guarantee admission to the 
reception class of that school.  Parents will be expected to apply for admission to the main 
school separately at the published time.  Attendance in a nursery class will not be taken into 
account when the parent applies for entry to school. 

 

 Registration Forms 
 
Once a child has been offered a place in a nursery class the parent will have to accept or 
decline the offer within a specific timeframe.  Once an offer has been accepted, and before 
the child starts at the nursery, the parent will be required to complete a registration form 
which will include such information as emergency contact details etc.  
   

                                                
49 A 'looked after child' is a child who is (a) in the care of a local authority, or (b) being provided with accommodation by a local authority 

in the exercise of their social services functions (see the definition in Section 22(1) of the Children Act 1989) at the time of making an 
application to a school.   

50 This includes children who were adopted under the Adoption Act 1976 (see section 12 adoption orders) and children who were adopted 
under the Adoption and Children’s Act 2002 (see section 46 adoption orders). 

51 Child arrangements orders are defined in s.8 of the Children Act 1989, as amended by s.12 of the Children and Families Act 2014. Child 
arrangements orders replace residence orders and any residence order in force prior to 22 April 2014 is deemed to be a child 
arrangements order. 

52 See Section 14A of the Children Act 1989 which defines a ‘special guardianship order’ as an order appointing one 
or more individuals to be a child’s special guardian (or special guardians).   



Unrestricted 

 

 
 

ID    

No

Raised 

by

Date 

Raised

Description Risk type Potential 

scale of 

impact

Potential 

likelihood 

Unadjusted 

Impact

Confidence 

in data or 

assumption

Preventative / Mitigating 

actions

Follow up Owned by Status

1 GS Oct-14 Proposals to DAs and admission 

arrangements create issues with 

communities.

Timing / Reputation Medium Medium Medium Medium Only pusue DA changes when timely to 

do so.

Consult in a clear, organised manner.

The need to change DA boundaries for 

the new schools may be generally 

accepted however the opposition in 

particular areas is less predictable. 

Discussion with communities affected.

GS / LA Open

2 GS Mar-15 Inappropriate boundary settings of new 

DAs i.e. too small or too big or changed 

too early or too late

Statutory - school 

place provision

Timing

Cost

Low Low Low High Plans reflect current housing proposals 

and build timescales; arrangements will 

be enacted when needed and can be 

modified in detail if required. 

GS / LA Open

3 GS Oct-14 The proposals are not seen as being ‘clear 

and reasonable’ if the Schools Adjudicator 

is required to be involved.

Timing High Low Medium Medium Manage the process so that we pay 

particular attention to what is ‘reasonable’ 

and if necessary seek the advice of the 

Schools Adjudicator at an early stage

GS / LA Open

4 GS Oct-14 Risk that a suitable provider of places may 

not be on board to the programme 

timescale.

Timing / Statutory Medium Low Low Medium Two schools are due to expand.

A free school/academy route is being 

pursued in relation to other new schools.

Transition arrangements are in place for 

new academy provision should timings for 

sponsor appointment not align with 

admissions cycles.  

DW / GS Open

5 GS Oct-14 New school provider may face 

implementation challenges and delays

Timing / Statutory Low Low Low Medium There will be a need to monitor the 

situation sensitively.

Necessary timeframes to be well known.

Council support to be provided as 

necessary.

Transition arrangements can stay in 

place for as long as necessary.

GS / CT Open

6 GS Oct-14 Risk of demand forecast not meeting the 

target, leading to lack of demand in the 

new school provision.

Reputation Medium Medium Medium Medium Continue to refine pupil forecasting 

methodology with regular review of factors 

and assumptions.

Be prepapred to open additional places 

on a phased basis.

Consider spare spaces alongside needs 

in surrounding areas.

GS Open

Annex 9

Key admissions related issues

RISK LOG:  CHANGES TO ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS





Unrestricted 
 

TO: THE EXECUTIVE  
9 FEBRUARY 2016 

  
 

OUTCOME OF THE CONSULTATION ON THE FUTURE PROVISION OF SERVICES AT 
HEATHLANDS RESIDENTIAL CARE HOME AND DAY CENTRE FOR PEOPLE WITH 

DEMENTIA 
Director of Adult Social Care, Health and Housing 

 
 
1 PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 
1.1 The Executive on the 20th October 2015 approved a recommendation to consult on 

the future of services currently provided at Heathlands Residential Care Home and 
Day Centre for People with Dementia with a view to re commissioning all services 
currently provided in the independent sector. 
 

1.2 The report informs the Executive of the outcome of the consultation process on the 
future of Heathlands Residential Care Home and Day Centre for People with 
Dementia.  The report will set out the main findings of the consultation programme 
and recommendations regarding the future. 

 
 
2 RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

The Executive is asked to agree: 
 
2.1 To re-provide in the independent sector the residential and day care service 

currently provided at Heathlands. 
 

2.2 That further detailed work with the residents and their families commence with 
a view to securing alternative residential, nursing or day care provision. 

 
 
3 REASON FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
3.1 As people with dementia continue to be supported to live in the community for longer, 

increasingly, therefore when people with dementia move into a care home setting 
their needs are more complex and often can only be met through nursing care. There 
has, therefore, been an increase in the number and proportion of nursing care 
placements being commissioned as opposed to residential care placement. 

 
3.2 Bracknell Forest Council, in partnership with the Clinical Commissioning Groups, will 

continue to commission services that support a shift away from residential care to 
personalised social care in community settings, supporting people to live 
independently, and safely to deliver the principles within Bracknell Forest Joint 
Commissioning Strategy for Dementia 2014-2019. 

 
3.3 The necessary investment required to undertake a major refurbishment/ 

redevelopment and bring Heathlands up to standard would not be economically 
viable, and would also mean people would need to be moved for a period of time 
which would create unacceptable disruption to their lives. 

 
3.4 Heathlands has been operating with a number of vacant beds since mid 2014 and as 

1st June 2015 the home was operating with less than 50% occupancy. Currently there 



Unrestricted 
 

are 10 people permanently placed in Heathlands. These people, over time, would be 
likely to be moving out of Heathlands if and when their needs cannot be met. There 
has also been a drop in attendance at the Day Centre by 40% over the last 12 
months. 

 
3.5 The Council is having to meet the challenge of an ageing population and increased 

demand for support within a climate of budgetary and funding constraints. It is, 
therefore, essential that services are sustainable, cost effective and deliver best 
value for money. 

 
3.6 The Executive are reminded that even if the recommendations are accepted people 

will still continue to receive a service to meet their needs. This proposal is not about 
cutting the level of support to older people, but about providing it in a different way to 
ensure a better environment for people and ensure efficient and effective working. 

 
3.7 If the recommendations are accepted, then the department will work with individuals 

and their families to secure alternative accommodation and support. 
 
3.8 The consultation has demonstrated that people would like to keep Heathlands open 

as they feel it is an established part of the community and would leave a physical 
gap. There is recognition that change is a very emotional issue and it would be 
detrimental to the individuals affected.  The Council recognised that the proposal to 
consult might cause concern for the people in Heathlands, their families and the staff. 
Extra support has been provided throughout the consultation and will continue to be 
provided through this time and after the decisions is made. 

 
 
4 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
4.1 No change in service will mean that this service would continue to be costly and 

unsustainable and would commit the Council to additional capital expenditure.  
 
4.2 To refurbish/redevelop Heathlands and invest in a major re development programme 

would require considerable investment. It is clear that the upgrade cost would be very 
significant.  

 
4.3 Consideration had been given to sell or lease Heathlands to another provider. This 

would be difficult due to the limitations and constraints of the building and the 
investment required to address these issues and secure a market position. 

 
 

5 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

5.1 Background 
 

5.1.1 Bracknell Forest Offers a mixed economy of care and a range of supported options 
for people requiring care and support. People are being supported to remain in their 
own home longer and this is their preferred choice. There is a range of community 
domiciliary services to meet the needs of older people. There is also support for 
carers. There has been a 31% increase from 2013/14 in the number of people 
receiving home care. At the same time the number of people requiring nursing care 
placement has remained static, with a fall in the number of residential care 
placements. 

 



Unrestricted 
 

5.1.2 Only a small proportion of these services for older people are directly provided by the 
Council. Heathlands Residential Care Home and Day Centre together with a joint 
funded community and bed based reablement service. There are currently 10 people 
permanently placed in Heathlands who would need to be placed in another home. 
Current new developments in the market are that there is a 60 bedded residential 
care home being built in Crowthorne completion Spring 2016 and a 64 bedded care 
home is being built in Bracknell Town. There is also availability in day care provision.  

 
5.1.3  Bracknell Forest Council has to identify how to deliver significant savings following 

changes in funding for local government. Consideration must, therefore, be given to 
how resources are used, both in terms of revenue spend and capital spend, and 
focus on those services that deliver the best outcomes for people and the best value 
for money. At the same time the needs and welfare of people living in Heathlands is a 
priority, as are the future needs of older people with dementia in Bracknell Forest 
which is linked into the availability, quality and market capacity, now and in the future. 

 
5.1.4 Heathlands is a 1970 building and was built at a time when the spacial standards 

were different to today. It, therefore, presents restrictions as to the ability to ensure it 
can provide a suitable environment going forward. Newly registered care homes have 
larger rooms and en-suite facilities. Heathlands with its layout, small rooms and 
corridors is not the best environment to support people with dementia. People with 
dementia benefit from buildings which are simply laid out.  

 
5.1.5 Heathlands will not meet the current standards for residential care homes contained 

in the CQC Guidance for providers on meeting the Regulations – (Section 15) March 
2015. The building does not meet the standards of accommodation that supports 
dignity in care. The importance of the physical environment is well documented by 
the Joseph Rowntree Foundation in their 2009 report on Older People’s vision for 
Long Term Care. With regard to the physical environment Heathlands will not meet 
the future needs and expectations of older people that can be found in newly built or 
modernised care homes without extensive investment or modernisation.  

 
5.2 Financial Implications   

 
5.2.1 The cost of closure is likely to be significant. Although redeployment opportunities will 

be explored, there is a potential redundancy and pay in lieu of notice (PILON) cost of 
approximately £400K. If suitable redeployment opportunities are found, the 
redundancy and PILON costs fall.  It is normal practice for the Council’s Structural 
Changes Fund to meet the redundancy costs, but for the PILON costs to be met from 
the Department’s revenue savings in the first year.  In view of the serious financial 
challenge faced by the Council and the need to make significant additional revenue 
savings quickly in 2016/17 it is recommended that the PILON costs associated with 
Heathlands be treated as an exception and, as such, also be met from the Council’s 
Structural Changes Fund.   With savings estimated to be at least £500K per year the 
pay back period is approximately 10 months.   

 
5.2.2 The unit cost of a bed at Heathlands is an estimated £1,116 per week, due to the 

high vacancy rate. This compares with the Bracknell Usual rate for residential care 
for a person with dementia of £517.99.  In the event that a decision was made to 
close Heathlands it is unlikely that this rate could be achieved when moving the 10 
people at once. However it is considered prudent that a £375K saving would still be 
achieved. 

 
 



Unrestricted 
 

5.2.3 The unit cost of a place in the day centre is an estimated £74 per day. As with the 
residential home, the high unit cost is due to capacity not being fully utilised. 
Comparable day centre places can be purchased for significantly less than £74 per 
day, and it is considered prudent that a saving of £125K would be achieved on 
commissioning the service externally.  

 
5.2.4 There would be some one-off costs in re-providing the service at Heathlands. Some 

of these, for example, the dual running cost while alternative support arrangements 
are put in place, and the project management costs, will be met from within existing 
budgets. 

 
5.3 Human Resources 

 
5.3.1 A total of 35 permanent staff would be affected if the decision is taken to re provide 

Heathlands.  
 
5.3.2  Human Resources have been advising Departmental Managers in ensuring the 

Organisational Change Protocol is followed 
 
5.3.3 A formal timetable was established to incorporate formal staff consultation with the 

staff based at Heathlands.  
 
5.3.4 The Heathlands team are seen as a highly skilled staff group and every effort will be 

made to redeploy those placed at risk in line with the Council’s policy. Members 
should be clear that the recommendations are in no way a reflection of the quality of 
support provided by the staff at Heathlands.  

 
5.3.5 The Departmental Management Team has implemented a vacancy freeze on posts, 

following an impact assessment on each vacant post, to ensure every opportunity for 
re-deployment is maximised whilst not jeopardizing certain key operational posts 
remaining unfilled. 

 
5.3.6 There is a 13 week staff consultation process running concurrently with the public 

consultation. The reporting requirements for Local Joint and Employment 
Committees have also been taken into consideration in the planning process. The 
Council will comply with all appropriate employment legislation that relates to the 
rights of employees affected by organisational change in particular the Employment 
Rights Act 1996. Individual staff consultation meetings were offered but there has 
been no interest.  

 
 

6 ADVICE RECEIVED FROM STATUTORY AND OTHER OFFICERS 
 

Borough Solicitor 
 

6.1 The relevant legal issues are identified within the supporting information of the report.  
A full consultation process was undertaken over a three month period and an 
Equality Impact Assessment completed in line with legal requirements. Due 
consideration has been given to the responses received in the formulation of the 
recommendations. 

.  
Borough Treasurer 
 

6.2 The relevant financial provisions are contained within the report. 
 



Unrestricted 
 

Equalities Impact Assessment 
 

6.3 A comprehensive EIA on the impact of these proposals on the people who live in 
Heathlands and use the day centre has been carried out. 
 
Strategic Risk Management Issues  
 

6.4 It has been identified that major work would need to be undertaken to bring 
Heathlands upto modern standards.  Also, without an improvement and investment 
programme, there is a risk of deterioration and failure of critical services.  This could 
lead to non-compliance with CQC. 

 
The cost of no change to the Council would be very significant and would require 
mitigating action elsewhere. 
 
Head of HR 
 

6.5 This was taken by the Special Employment Committee on 16 December 2015 and 
they were informed of the Consultation and the possible outcome of redundancies 
and redeployments. A meeting was held with staff on 8 January 2016 to inform them 
of the way ahead and possible outcomes from the Executive once Consultation is 
complete. “At Risk” letters was given to staff on the week beginning 11 January to 
allow sufficient time for redeployment and or notice periods to be undertaken prior to 
the current possible closure date of 30 April 2016. Trades Unions have been 
informed and invited to attend the meeting on 8 January. This will affect 35 
Permanent staff and 27 Relief staff. The Council’s Organisational Change Protocol is 
being followed for process and Chief Officer HR is aware of the situation and 
provided advice as necessary. 

 
 

7 CONSULTATION 
 

 Principal Groups Consulted 
 
7.1 People living in Heathlands where appropriate, their Relatives and Friends 

Staff at Heathlands and the Unions 
Community Groups 
Health Partners 
Voluntary Sector Groups/Independent Sector Providers 
Wider Community   

  
Method of Consultation 

 
7.2 The consultation process took place over a period of 3 months through 13th 

November 2015 to the 21st January 2016. 
A Consultation Survey/Questionnaire was produced with printed and online versions 
made available (Appendix 1). This was developed to find out people’s views about 
the proposal on the future of Heathlands. The Survey was also available on line. In 
total there were 82 responses. 
Reminders were issued to stakeholder groups about the consultation in Early 
December. 
Details of the consultation proposal and process were reported in the media.  There 
was also an opportunity for e mail or other written correspondence to be sent to the 
Council. 

 



Unrestricted 
 

7.2.1 People living in Heathlands/attending the day centre 
 

Individuals, their carers/relatives and friends have been presented with information 
about the proposals and the consultation process and then given the opportunity to 
discuss and comment on the various aspects and potential impact on them and to put 
forward their views. Copies of the Consultation Survey were made available.  An 
experienced project manager/social worker has been tasked to liaise with the 
individuals and their families. Every effort has been made to avoid unnecessary 
distress to individuals and their relatives. 

 
7.2.2 Staff and Trade Unions  

 
The Council has consulted with the staff at Heathlands. 
A group meeting was held on Monday 12th October 2015 during which the Chief  
Officer outlined the proposals and the consultation process should the Executive 
agree to consult on the future of Heathlands. Trade Union representation was not 
present at this meeting. 
A letter to staff from the Chief Officer on the 23rd October 2015 confirmed the 
Executive decision had been taken to undertake consultation. Paper copies of the 
consultation survey were left at Heathlands 
Staff were given the opportunity to respond to the Consultation Survey and were also 
offered one to one individual meetings.  Ongoing support has been given by the 
Registered Manager of Heathlands.    

 
7.2.3 Community Groups/Health Partners and Service Providers  
 

Stakeholder partners were informed of the proposals and were sent copies of the 
Consultation Survey. 

 
7.2.4 Wider Community 
 

There was reporting in the media following a press briefing on the proposal and 
subsequently there was the opportunity to make views known through the online 
Survey. 
 
We have also had a petition with 478 signatures from people in the wider community. 

  
Representations Received 

 
7.3 In providing a mechanism through which key questions could be asked and 

answered on this proposal the views and issues of stakeholder groups have been 
drawn together from respondents to the survey/consultation process. 

 
7.3.1 Individuals and Families 

 
It is clear that there is concern over the proposal to close Heathlands. However, the 
appointment of a project manager/social worker specifically to work with individuals 
and families has proved greatly beneficial. A safe and secure environment, being 
able to maintain links with family and friends were important to individuals and 
families in going forward. Also, maintaining high standards of quality of care and 
locally based services were also high priorities. 

 
  



Unrestricted 
 

7.3.2 Staff Views 
 

In the group meeting staff expressed concern about the impact on jobs and the 
potential impact of any closure on the people living in Heathlands/attending the day 
centre. They also expressed a view that closure was inevitable.  

 
7.3.3 Community Groups/Health Partners/Service Providers  

 
Overall there is agreement with the proposal and as there is adequate capacity within 
the market for this type of care to be provided, it is accepted that people’s needs can 
be met appropriately. 

 
7.3.4 Wider Community 

 
From the analysis of the survey there was support to keep Heathlands open as a 
local resource and it is seen as an established part of the community and leave a 
physical gap. It was also noted that Bracknell Forest staff are valued and that there 
are opportunities in the care sector. 
 

7.3.5 Heathlands Consultation Analysis 
 

There have been 82 responses to the consultation, of which 73 were received online 
and 9 were postal responses.  All the responses were from individuals. Verbal 
feedback has been received from organisations/ community groups. 
 
Who responded to the consultation? 
 
Only a small number of responses (2%) have been received directly from the people 
living in Heathlands. However, the dedicated project manager/social worker attached 
to Heathlands has ensured that people were enabled, if appropriate, to contribute. 
 
In addition to the responses received from people living in Heathlands, 70% of 
responses were received from either family members or friends of residents, 6% of 
responses were from employees, 10% of responses were from residents of Bracknell 
Forest and 10% were from others.  1% of responses were from carers of residents. 
 
Therefore, although responses of family, friends and carers made up a significant 
percentage (71%), it is not known to what extent they represent the views of 
residents or are expressing their own views.   
 
Detailed Analysis 

 
Proposition 1 – Use of Council tax:  ‘Bracknell Forest Council should develop 
services that support people who want to live at home for as long as possible 
and which prevent or delay people moving into residential care.’ 
Helping people to be as independent as possible is one of the main priorities of Adult 
Social Care and is one of the key themes of the Adult Social Care Outcomes 
Framework. 
 
A significant percentage of respondents (76%) agreed that Bracknell Forest Council 
should support people who want to live at home for as long as possible, with 11% 
neither agreeing nor disagreeing, and 13% disagreeing.  It is clear then that people 
are in favour of people being supported to be independent and not to move into 
residential care, or to delay the move for as long as possible. 
 



Unrestricted 
 

Proposition 2 – Care Quality:  ‘The Council should develop a ‘mixed economy’ 
of care so that people requiring care and support have a range of support 
options to choose from.’ 
Providing choice and control to people is one of the central principles of the 
personalisation agenda and is another of the key themes of the Adult Social Care 
Outcomes Framework.  This enables people to live their lives in the way they want to.  
A very high percentage of respondents (92%) agreed that people requiring care and 
support should have a range of support options to choose from.   Only 4% disagreed 
and 4% neither agreed nor disagreed.  It can be concluded therefore that having 
choice and control is very important to respondents. 
 
However, it is clear that the choices that people are offered must be appropriate 
ones.  As people with dementia continue to be supported to live in the community for 
longer, when they move into a care home setting, often due to the complexity of their 
needs, their needs can only be met through nursing care. 
 
Proposition 3 – Acceptable Change:  ‘As a person’s needs become more 
complex, it is appropriate for the Council to be able to offer alternative living 
arrangements which are appropriate to their assessed needs.’ 
People are supported to remain in their own homes for longer and this is their 
preferred choice.  There is a range of community domiciliary services to meet the 
needs of older people.  In addition to this, the use of live in carers is increasing, and 
the newly developed Clement House provides extra care housing and the voluntary 
sector supports carers through grants and commissioned carers support. 
 
96% of respondents agreed that where peoples’ needs become more complex, that 
the Council should be able to offer alternative living arrangements which are 
appropriate to needs.  4% of respondents disagreed. 
 
People were therefore strongly in support of the right alternative accommodation 
being available for people where appropriate. 
 
Proposition 4 – Dignity in Care:  ‘Dignity in care is important and people should 
not have to share facilities such as toilets, bathrooms and kitchens.’ 
Dignity in Care is a major national initiative that began in 2006.  The core values of 
the initiative are about having dignity in hearts, minds and actions, changing the 
culture of care services and placing a greater emphasis on improving the quality of 
care and the experience of people receiving support.  In a care home setting, an 
important part of people’s dignity in care is not having to share facilities such as 
toilets bathrooms and kitchens. 
 
From this perspective, it is felt that the layout of Heathlands is currently unsuitable 
with none of the 38 rooms having en-suite facilities or sufficient space within any 
rooms for en-suite facilities to be installed.  The current facilities would not meet 
modern registration standards if Heathlands was a new facility.  Upgrading these 
would involve major restructural work to be carried out, and whilst the work has not 
been estimated (it would be expensive to obtain an estimate), it is clear that the 
upgrade cost would be very significant. 
 
A significant percentage of respondents (76%) agreed that dignity in care is 
important.  16% of respondents neither agreed nor disagreed and 8% of respondents 
disagreed.  So it can be concluded that dignity in care in important to the majority of 
people. 
 



Unrestricted 
 

Proposition 5 – Day Centre Services:  ‘There are opportunities to develop day 
centre services as part of the ‘mixed economy’ of care and support.’ 
The Day Centre which is on the same site as Heathlands provides on average 12 
places a day.  Attendance has dropped by 40% over the last 12 months.  
Comparable day services at Sandhurst Day Centre and Age Concern also accept 
people with dementia.  Sandhurst has capacity for an additional 12 day centre places 
and Age Concern has 22 places. 
 
There was strong support of this proposition (73% of respondents agreed) with 25% 
neither agreeing nor disagreeing.  1% of respondents disagreed.  It can be concluded 
therefore that a significant majority of people feel the development of day care 
services is important. 
 
 
Comments from Respondents   
 
Respondents provided their own comments to describe what they wanted to say 
here.   Responses have been grouped into themes where this was appropriate.  29 
out of 82 respondents provided comments (35%). 
 
Moving people to a new care home setting is stressful/upsetting/unsettling for 
residents 
Respondents said that their relatives would find a move very stressful and unsettling.  
There is no doubt that some residents would find a move difficult although it is to be 
hoped that this impact would be relatively short-term.  All moves take into account the 
complex needs of people with dementia and therefore it is anticipated that this would 
have a very positive effect on outcomes in the longer term. 
 
Importance of day care support/price of day care support 
People made comments on the importance of day care services.  These ranged from 
the importance of day care services generally to the need to offer cost effective day 
care services. 
 
It has been pointed out elsewhere in this report that there has been a 40% reduction 
in the number of people using the day care services at Heathlands.  The cost of day 
care services at Heathlands is £52.70 per day compared to £12 per day at Sandhurst 
and £28 per day at Age Concern. 
 
It is therefore difficult to reconcile people’s comments with the current availability and 
cost of day care at Heathlands.  It should also be noted that the day care services at 
Heathlands are specifically aimed at people with a degree of dementia.  
 
Changing Heathlands from a residential home to a nursing home, and closing 
the day centre 
This change was suggested as well proposing the closing of the day centre and the 
training of specialist dementia nurses.  It has been highlighted elsewhere in this 
report that the current residential facilities at Heathlands are unsuitable and 
upgrading them to the point required where they were suitable would involve 
significant cost. 
 
Heathlands care standards are above the others in the care sector 
Other respondent said that CQC reports on Heathlands were favourable and that 
private care homes in the vicinity of Bracknell did not reflect Heathlands high 
standards.  However, the point has been made elsewhere in this report that the 
current facilities at Heathlands would not meet modern registration standards if 



Unrestricted 
 

Heathlands was a new facility, and that restructuring of Heathlands would attract 
significant costs. 
 
Heathlands is in a good location and my relative enjoys visits 
The exact location of any facility on the borough is often going to be beneficial for 
some residents and their visitors and not beneficial to others.  It is usually not 
possible to have a location that is ideal for all. 
 
To summarise respondents’ thoughts at this stage, the main points made are 
the importance of day care services to people, and the difficulties and distress 
that will be experienced by the residents who might need to move. 

 
 
Range of options for Heathlands 
 
A number of separate options were identified for Heathlands which respondents were 
asked to comment on.  These are options listed below: 

 

 Option 1 – The Council should close Heathlands and give residents support 
to move permanently to other residential care homes 

 Option 2 – The Council should remodel, upgrade and re-open Heathlands but 
as a smaller facility 

 Option 3 – Another organisation should remodel, upgrade and re-open 
Heathlands as a smaller facility 

 Option 4 – Changes at Heathlands represent a number of challenges – are 
there other options to consider 

 
Option 1 – ‘The Council should close Heathlands and give residents support to 
move permanently to other residential care homes’. 
This report has already highlighted that making Heathlands suitable by upgrading its 
residential facilities would involve significant costs. 
  
75% of respondents disagreed with this option, whilst 14% neither agreed nor 
disagreed and 11% agreed.  Therefore, a significant proportion of respondents did 
not support this option. 
 
Respondents were asked to provide their thoughts, ideas, comments or concerns 
about option 1.  35 out of 82 respondents (43%) provided comments. 
 
Heathlands is a home to people living there and should be adapted to meet 
their needs 
This comment highlights the importance people attach to people’s homes. 
 
Difficulties and distress caused to people in moving 
A re-occurring view throughout the consultation is about how moving people causes 
them difficulties and distress. 
 
What other arrangement will be available to residents 
Respondents expressed concerns over what alternative arrangements might be 
available for residents should Heathlands close. 

 
Importance of Day Care Services 
Respondents commented on the importance of the Heathlands Day Care Services. 



Unrestricted 
 

 
Other comments 
Other comments were that Heathlands should remain open until any new care homes 
in the area are completed and that Heathlands should be closed. 1 respondent said 
that it would depend on whether the other care homes that people would move to 
could meet future demand. 
 
To summarise comments on this option, the main objections to Heathlands 
closing are that it is people’s home, that moving will be stressful and difficult 
for residents and not knowing where people will move to. 
 
Option 2 – ‘The Council should re-model, upgrade and re-open Heathlands but 
as a smaller facility’ 
A significant majority of respondents agreed with option 2 (58%).  However, 24% 
neither agreed nor disagreed, and 18% disagreed.  It has been established that 
upgrading Heathlands would involve considerable costs. 
 
Again, respondents were invited to provide their own thoughts, ideas, comments or 
concerns about option 2.  28 out of 82 respondents provided comments (34%).  
 
The importance of Heathlands as a provider of alternative accommodation 
Respondents commented on the importance of Heathlands in providing alternative 
accommodation for people, including that it is home to people. 
 
Importance of the Day Centre 
Respondents said that Day Care Services are important. 
 
Other comments 
Respondents felt that there would be stress caused to residents in having to move 
both out of and back into Heathlands during any refurbishment.  There were also 
comments on the good location of Heathlands and that the cost of upgrading 
Heathlands should be compared to the new relatively low number of residents and 
therefore is not justified. 
 
In conclusion to comments on option 2, the importance of people having 
access to alternative accommodation was the most common response.  The 
importance of day care services has also been highlighted. 
 
Option 3 – ‘Another organisation should remodel, upgrade and re-open 
Heathlands as a smaller facility. 
There was not a great deal of support for option 3.  Only 14% of respondents agreed 
that another organisation should upgrade Heathlands.  37% of respondents neither 
agreed nor disagreed and 49% disagreed. 
 
As with options 1 and 2, respondents were invited to provide their own thoughts, 
ideas, comments or concerns about option 2.  25 out of 82 respondents provided 
comments (30%). 
 
A significant proportion of respondents were not in support of the option, the main 
reason being given that private providers need to run at a profit which would 
therefore involve higher costs to residents.  Others felt that the quality of care would 
be better if Heathlands remained as a Council-owned facility.  1 respondent didn’t 
think option 2 referred to the day centre and another commented on the previously 
expressed view that moving out for refurbishment would be very unsettling for 
residents.  



Unrestricted 
 

 
Option 4 – ‘Changes at Heathlands present a number of different challenges 
but are there different options to consider?’ 
28 respondents of the 82 (34%) provided comments to option 4. 
 
There were a wide range of different comments provided by respondents here and 
the main themes are listed below: 
 

 Outside spaces and opportunity to exercise are important for older people 

 There is a need for more care homes in Bracknell Forest Council 

 A smaller scale upgrade for Heathlands should be carried out over a longer 
period 

 Could Heathlands be remodelled as a specialist provider in dementia care (2 
comments) 

 The Bracknell population is increasing and needs the services that 
Heathlands  provides 

 Alternative accommodation is important for people with dementia  

 It is better for certain people to be in a care home than taking up beds in 
hospital 

 There should be private investment into Heathlands 

 Heathlands should be retained as long as possible 

 Moving (my) elderly relative would be distressing to her 

 Respondent wasn’t able to comment as they didn’t know how and what the 
Council   was spending its money on. 

 
The comments made to option 4 are too diverse to show any clear trends. 
 
Support to people at Heathlands 
Respondents were asked to identify from a list what the 5 most important factors 
were which would help them with the changes at Heathlands.  The 11 most important 
things that people chose are shown in the table below, along with their overall score: 

 

Factors in order of importance %age of respondents Score 

For my family, friends and carers to be 
kept well informed 

21% 591 

Information about new or different care 
choices at different care homes 

15% 438 

Information about any possible changes to 
the care and support I get 

14% 385 

Information about any costs or charges 11% 318 

Opportunities to visit different care homes 9% 266 

Opportunities to meet people that live in 
the care home I am considering 

8% 242 

Someone to advocate for me 7% 208 

Information about local transport at the 
care home I am considering so I can get 
out and about 

4% 121 



Unrestricted 
 

Help and advice about moving home 4% 104 

Information about the community I am 
thinking of moving to 

3% 97 

Information about how I can decorate and 
personalise my home 

2% 60 

 
The percentages of each factor are shown in the chart below  
 

 
 

The 4 most important factors shown in the chart above are for family, friends and 
carers to be kept well informed (21%), new or different choices at different care 
homes ((15%), possible changes to the care and support received (14%) and 
information about costs and charges (11%).   

 
 

8 CONCLUSIONS 
 
8.1 The decision to consult on the future of Heathlands with the possibility of re provision 

was not taken lightly. However, it is a key element within the strategic direction for 
services for older people in Bracknell Forest. This is based on the future trends for 
adult social care and how best the Council can meet those requirements and the 
needs of people who require services now and in the future. 

 
8.2 The feedback from the consultation was that a common theme throughout the 

consultation was the potential distress, difficulties and upset that would be caused to 
the people living in Heathlands by having to move out of the accommodation due to 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

Percentage of factors in peoples' top 5 



Unrestricted 
 

the closure of Heathlands. It is recognised by respondents that to those people 
Heathlands represents their home and therefore it would be difficult for them to leave. 

 
8.3 Respondents agreed that the Council should support people to live at home for as 

long as possible and that people requiring care and support should have a range of 
options to choose from. Respondents also strongly agreed that day centre services 
should be developed as part of the range of options that people can choose from. 
There was also strong agreement that when people’s needs become more complex, 
the Council should be able to offer alternative living arrangements which are 
appropriate to their needs. There was also a strong expression that dignity in care is 
important and that people should not have to share facilities such as toilets, 
bathrooms and kitchens. 

 
8.4 In examining the range of options for Heathlands.  

Three quarters of the respondents disagreed that Heathlands should close with 
people   receiving support to move elsewhere.  
58% of respondents agreed that the Council should remodel, upgrade or re-open 
Heathlands as a smaller facility. 49% of respondents did not agree that another 
organisation should upgrade and re-open Heathlands as a smaller facility. 

 
8.5 When looking at which factors people said they would find most helpful in considering   

the changes at Heathlands, the four most important ones were  

 Family, friends and carers to be kept informed 

 Information about new or different care choices at different care homes 

 Information about any possible changes to the care and support people get 

 Opportunities to visit different care homes 
 
 
Background Papers 
 
Executive Report 20th October 2015 
  
 
Contact for further information 
       
Angela Harris, Adult Social Care, Health and Housing - 01344 351784 
Angela.Harris@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 
Mira Haynes, Adult Social Care, Health and Housing - 01344 351599 
Mira.Haynes@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 

mailto:Angela.Harris@bracknell-forest.gov.uk


Unrestricted 

 

TO: THE EXECUTIVE 
9 FEBRUARY 2016 

  
 

AGENCY WORKERS FRAMEWORK 2016-2020 - FURTHER COMPETITION UNDER 
ESPO MSTAR2 FRAMEWORK 653F_15 LOT 1 

Director of Adult Social Care, Health & Housing 
 
 

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

1.1 In accordance with the recommendation contained in the Procurement Plan 
approved by the Director of Corporate Services and the Executive Member for 
Transformation & Finance in October 2015, the Council has undertaken a mini 
competition under the MSTAR2 Framework reference 653F_15 (Lot 1 – Neutral 
Supply Chain Management) Framework Agreement managed by the Eastern Shires 
Purchasing Organisation (ESPO).The evaluation of tenders has now been completed 
and this paper seeks agreement to place the Council’s own contract under the ESPO 
framework for a period of 4 years from 1 April 2016. 
 

1.2 Current arrangements with the Council’s Managed Service Provider (Comensura) 
were put in place under the previous iteration of the ESPO framework covering the 
2012 to 2016 period. 
 

1.3 The ESPO framework is fully compliant with the Public Contracts Regulations, and 
further competition has been carried out fully in accordance with framework rules. 
 
 

2 RECOMMENDATION 
 

2.1 That the Agency Worker Contract be awarded to Tenderer D. 
 
 
3 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 

 
3.1 To ensure, that the Council has an effective and reliable contractor offering an 

efficient and reliable service to hiring managers minimising the need for intervention 
by Council officers, and which delivers best value for money. 
 

3.2 To ensure that the Council adopts, in accordance with the principles of Category 
Management, a solution which addresses the needs of the whole Council and 
maximises the Council’s spending power, delivering both direct savings and process 
improvements. 
 

3.3 To ensure that the Council has a contract in place which facilitates continued 
compliance with the Agency Workers Regulations. 
 
 

4 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

4.1 None considered. Continued use of the ESPO framework is consistent with the 
principles of Category Management and enables the Council access to a well 
developed market and mature contractual process. Furthermore, there are 7 
established Managed Service Providers available on Lot 1 of the framework which 
has enabled a robust competition to be undertaken for Council requirements. 

http://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/mgExecPostDetails.aspx?ID=467&J=10
http://democratic.bracknell-forest.gov.uk/mgExecPostDetails.aspx?ID=467&J=10


Unrestricted 

 

4.2      The ESPO Framework embodies current best practice with regard to the 
management of Agency Workers and it has been tendered and awarded in full 
compliance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.  

 
 
5 SUPPORTING INFORMATION 

 
5.1 A Project Team drawn from all Council Directorates (including representatives from 

ICT, Finance and Corporate Procurement), and led by the Chief Officer: Older People 
& Long-term Conditions (Category Manager: Agency Staff), was established at the 
outset. The Project Team liaised closely with Hiring Managers across the Council to 
learn which areas of the current contract could be improved. The objective of such 
consultation was to ensure that, wherever possible, the new contract takes into 
account and addresses such areas. 

 
5.2 The majority of Council spend on Agency Workers (circa 75% of the total) is on social 

workers and care staff  within Adult Social Care , Health and Housing and Children, 
Young People and Learning. Of this spend on care staff, the majority is in Adult 
Social Care Health and Housing, and therefore the Chief Officer, Older People and 
Long Term Conditions has been designated Category Manager. The key principle of 
Category Management is that products or services acquired (such as Agency Staff) 
with common attributes, markets or suppliers are grouped together and managed as 
a single category. This enables optimal strategies to be developed for managing: the 
supply market, the internal demand for the commodities involved and the 
procurement methods required to best meet the needs of the organization. A key 
principle of the strategy developed is the use of this Agency Worker framework as the 
primary method in the Council for obtaining Agency Workers. 
 

5.3       There are 7 suppliers on Lot 1 of this ESPO framework, and those suppliers were 
asked in October 2015 to confirm their interest in submitting a bid for the Council 
contract. At this stage, only 1 supplier (Tenderer F withdrew from the exercise). 
Tenders were invited from the 6 remaining tenderers in early November, following 
which 3 further tenderers withdrew (Tenderers C, E and G). Tenders from the 3 
remaining suppliers were received at the end of November and were marked by the 
evaluation team prior to interviews/ system demonstrations on 9th December. In 
accordance with usual Council practice, these interviews were used by the evaluation 
team to confirm understanding of the bids received and to validate the marks 
awarded. The interviews themselves were not marked. 

 
5.4       Marks were awarded based on the answers given to the Method Statement 

(qualitative) questions agreed by the Evaluation Team and to the cost information 
submitted in the pricing schedule. This schedule represented a model of a typical 
annual spend for cost evaluation purposes. Tenderer D scored highest overall based 
on combined cost/ quality scores and they are recommended for acceptance.  

 Details of the evaluation are set out in the confidential annexe. 
 
5.5       Agency Worker spend will be accommodated within existing budgets. 
 
 
6 ADVICE RECEIVED FROM STATUTORY AND OTHER OFFICERS 

 
Borough Solicitor 

 
6.1 No significant legal issues arise from the matter discussed in this report. 

 



Unrestricted 

 

Borough Treasurer 
6.2 The tendering process as outlined in the report should ensure that value-for-money is 

secured and offer up the best option for longer-term savings. The evaluation criteria 
of 50:50 Quality:Price is appropriate given the nature of the service being procured. 

 
Equalities Impact Assessment 
 

6.3 This has been completed for this requirement and was attached to the Procurement 
Plan. 

 
Data Protection 

 
6.4       A Privacy Impact Assessment was considered appropriate for this project and was 

accordingly prepared and attached to the Procurement Plan. 
 

Strategic Risk Management Issues  
 

6.5 Failure to deliver the contract is a risk. Suppliers on this ESPO framework are, 
however, organisations with significant financial and other resources, all of which 
have been subject to detailed checks by ESPO in order to minimise the risk of non-
delivery. 

 
6.6 Failure of the supplier’s purchase to pay system could be a risk to the Council.  As 

required by ESPO, Tenderer D has robust business continuity arrangements in place 
to cover such matters. 

 
6.7 Poor performance could also be a risk to the Council.  The Council now has 

considerable experience in managing the Agency Worker framework and will 
proactively manage it going forward.  Persistent poor performance may be escalated 
to ESPO, who will be able to use their considerable leverage within the market to 
ensure improved performance, where necessary. 

 
6.8 Failure to commit the appropriate levels of staff resources to support the Category 

Strategy could put the project objectives at risk.  A contract manager is already in 
place to monitor and measure supplier performance and to address particular 
concerns such as the current level of off-contract spend. This risk should therefore be 
kept to a minimum. 

 
 
7 CONSULTATION 

 
 Principal Groups Consulted 

 
7.1 The Project and Tender Evaluation Teams were drawn from Adult Social Care, 

Children, Young People & Learning, Environment, Culture & Communities and 
Corporate Services Directorates. The teams included the Chief Officer: Older People 
& Long-term Conditions (Category Manager: Agency Staff), Corporate Procurement, 
ICT and Finance to ensure there was satisfactory representation to perform an 
effective assessment. Use of the ESPO framework was approved by the Assistant 
Borough Solicitor. 

 
 Method of Consultation 
 
7.2 During September 2015, a meeting was convened with a representative selection of 

current hiring managers to ensure that any problems or issues with current 



Unrestricted 

 

arrangements were captured. Such issues were then taken forward where possible 
and reflected in the Invitation to Tender to be addressed in the future. At project 
initiation, the Procurement Plan was reviewed by the Service Efficiency Steering 
Group and approved by the Corporate Services Director and the Executive Member 
for Transformation & Finance. The Project and Evaluation Teams met and were 
consulted throughout the project and documents were circulated to all for review to 
ensure that all comments and views were reflected. Draft tender documentation was 
also forwarded for review to the Assistant Borough Solicitor. ESPO were also 
consulted for advice throughout the procurement process. 
 

 Representations Received 
 
7.3 N/A 

 
 

Background Papers 
 
Invitation to Tender document including Conditions of Contract 
Tender Evaluation Spreadsheet 
Procurement Plan 
 
 
Contact for further information 
 
Mira Haynes, Adult Social Care, Health and Housing – 01344 351599 
Mira.Haynes@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 
Derek Fitz-Gibbon, Corporate Services – 01344 352093  
Derek.Fitz-Gibbon@bracknell-forest.gov.uk 
 

mailto:Mira.Haynes@bracknell-forest.gov.uk
mailto:Derek.Fitz-Gibbon@bracknell-forest.gov.uk





















	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	 Decision Sheets
	School Places Plan
	Sensory Needs Strtaegy
	CSP Strategic Assessment
	Great Hollands Expansion


	5 School Admission Arrangements and Designated Areas for 2017/18
	6 Outcome of the Consultation on the Future Provision of Services at Heathlands Residential Care Home and Day Centre
	7 Agency Workers Framework 2016-2020 - Tender Outcome
	07b Agency Workers Framework Annex 1 RESTRICTED

	9 Commercial Investment Property Acquisition in Bracknell
	09b Purchase of Commercial Investment Property Appendix A RESTRICTED
	09c Purchase of Commercial Investment Property Appendix B RESTRICTED

	10 Potential Acquisition of former Magistrates Court

